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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: The 1 o'clock

          3  hearing is at 1:09 p.m., which for members of the

          4  press, I would note, by City Hall standards is

          5  remarkable timing, I would suggest.  I'm Alan

          6  Gerson, Chair of the Lower Manhattan Redevelopment

          7  Committee.  We are joined by my colleagues and

          8  Committee Members Council Member John Liu, Council

          9  Member David Yassky, who just stepped out briefly,

         10  but he will return.  As I said, we've been joined by

         11  Council Member John Liu, one of the original members

         12  of the Committee who has done so much to promote our

         13  work.  Council Member Helen Foster is en route and

         14  will be joining us in progress, and I believe,

         15  unfortunately, Council Member Mendez is unavoidably

         16  detained unless things change, but, of course, she

         17  will be kept informed of the proceedings of this

         18  hearing.

         19                 In addition, as you know, the topic

         20  for this afternoon's hearing is the status and the

         21  timetable for the proposed Performing Arts Center as

         22  part of the rebuilt Ground Zero site.  At some

         23  point, though, during the hearing when we have a

         24  quorum present, at the same time I will need to

         25  break from that hearing  --  that topic I should say
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          2    --  to briefly take a vote of the Committee on a

          3  Resolution on which this Committee held a hearing

          4  several weeks ago.  The Resolution calling on the

          5  United States Environmental Protection Agency to

          6  reconsider and restructure its plans for the ongoing

          7  clean-up and environmental safety check of Lower

          8  Manhattan.  So we will be doing that and I beg

          9  everyone's indulgence.  We will be undertaking that

         10  vote as soon as the quorum allows.

         11                 It's good to see everyone here so

         12  dry.  Let me just, at the outset, note that I

         13  believe that we are all here with common purpose and

         14  that is to assure that culture has a prominent and

         15  preeminent place as part of our rebuilding of Ground

         16  Zero and as part of the rebuilt site or its

         17  immediate vicinity.  Culture and the arts are the

         18  way humanity explores and celebrates life to its

         19  fullest, certainly one of the ways, if not the chief

         20  way.  It is the way in which we express, if you

         21  will, our schwa-da-vive, our faith and confidence in

         22  the sanctity, in the beauty, and indeed in the

         23  miracle of life and the potential of life in its

         24  fullest breath.  That is why it remains imperative

         25  that on this location where so much destruction was
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          2  wrought due to those who celebrate death and promote

          3  the efface of death that we must respond, as part of

          4  our rebuilding effort, with a center and a focal

          5  point which celebrates life, which demonstrates our

          6  commitment to the beauty and magnificence of life at

          7  its fullest.  That is why from the very beginning,

          8  way before the well-known Mass Charette, which was

          9  held several years ago, a concept was developed

         10  which received virtually full consensus and that is

         11  that this site contained the fitting and imperative

         12  memorial honoring those who perished, that it

         13  contained a robust commercial sector so we carry on

         14  the activities which those who perished undertook so

         15  well, and it also contained, if you will, a bridge

         16  between the memorial and the commercial, an

         17  important cultural sector which, as I just said,

         18  marks our commitment and celebration of life.  That

         19  is why the focal point of this hearing is not

         20  whether we should proceed with the cultural center,

         21  but how we should proceed with the cultural center

         22  and how we may expedite the best and fullest

         23  creation of a world-class cultural and performing

         24  arts center as part of these rebuilding efforts.

         25                 Of course, if anyone disagrees, we
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          2  want to hear those viewpoints as well.  But I hope

          3  and trust that we will proceed in common purpose to

          4  that end, and I will say that we will hear later in

          5  this hearing from representatives of two outstanding

          6  cultural organizations who were part of a long and

          7  arduous process were selected to be anchor tenants,

          8  the Joyce Theater Company and the Signature Theatre

          9  Company, and when you talk about the efface of life

         10  and the celebration of life, we cannot have two more

         11  significant, more fitting ambassadors of culture to

         12  represent those values we seek to epitomize on this

         13  site.

         14                 Let me at the outset welcome our

         15  governmental representatives from the Deputy Mayor's

         16  Office and the Department of Cultural Affairs of the

         17  City of New York, we will hear from Mr. Andrew

         18  Winters and Commission Kate Levin in just a few

         19  moments.  We have long enjoyed, this Council and

         20  this Committee, a close collaboration which has

         21  helped generate the success we've enjoyed to date,

         22  and I look forward to continuing that close

         23  collaboration to get this cultural job done as well.

         24                 It's also my pleasure to welcome the

         25  Spitzer Administration to this Committee's chambers

                                                            7

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT

          2  for the first time. It's a special privilege and

          3  pleasure to welcome Mr. Avi Shick from whom we will

          4  hear in just a moment.  Mr. Shick, as we know, is

          5  the President of Empire State Development

          6  Corporation and I think his very presence here at

          7  this hearing reflects the Administration's

          8  commitment to and the prospects of close

          9  collaboration between this Council and this

         10  Committee and this State Administration along, of

         11  course, with our continued close collaboration with

         12  the City for all of us to work collaboratively

         13  together for the common purposes I expressed just a

         14  little while ago.

         15                 Mr. Shick, again, on behalf of the

         16  Council, on behalf of this Committee, on behalf of

         17  the Downtown community I represent, we welcome you.

         18  We not only welcome you to this hearing, but we

         19  welcome for your leadership which has already been

         20  asserted, and again, we look forward to working in

         21  close partnership and to getting the job done, and

         22  we know from your track record you and your

         23  administration are most capable of that.

         24                 In the interest of everyone's time

         25  and to accommodate everyone's schedule, both the
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          2  State and the City Administration's schedule, we

          3  have adjusted the order slightly of witnesses, and

          4  at this point, I will ask Mr. Avi Shick to commence

          5  your testimony.

          6                 And in the City Council, the

          7  microphone is on when the light is off.  When it's

          8  off, it's on.  When it's on, it's off. So if you

          9  just push the button so  --  there you go.  Thank

         10  you.

         11                 MR. SHICK: Thank you, Chairman

         12  Gerson.  Thank you for the kind words.  Rest assured

         13  that the Administration has no greater priority than

         14  the rebuilding of Lower Manhattan and we will commit

         15  to be here anytime and to work with you through any

         16  process to move that forward.  This hearing is an

         17  important one and we thank you for convening it and

         18  for allowing us to speak on this topic.

         19                 I'd like to begin by expressing the

         20  Spitzer Administration's strong commitment to the

         21  establishment of vibrant cultural institutions in

         22  Lower Manhattan, and more specifically to bringing

         23  cultural facilities to the World Trade Center site.

         24  The development of cultural buildings and

         25  programming has been contemplated in all of the
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          2  Lower Manhattan Development Corporations plans for

          3  the site, and the State has allocated $55 million

          4  dollars to the design planning and construction of a

          5  performing arts center.  To date, these are the only

          6  funds that have been committed to a performing arts

          7  center.

          8                 Since I mentioned the LMDC, let me

          9  detour just briefly to state expressly and

         10  unequivocally that Governor Spitzer plans for the

         11  LMDC to continue to play a vital role in the ongoing

         12  redevelopment efforts at Ground Zero and in Lower

         13  Manhattan.  LMDC will be the vehicle through which

         14  Governor Spitzer expresses his vision and

         15  articulates his voice in Lower Manhattan.  With new

         16  leadership and a new direction, a reinvigorated LMDC

         17  will help revitalize an area that is important not

         18  only to New Yorkers but to all Americans and will

         19  help repair the scar that on September 11th was

         20  etched on the public face of this great City.

         21                 With that introduction, I'd like to

         22  step back to briefly review some of the history of

         23  the effort to bring cultural institutions to Lower

         24  Manhattan and to provide the context for some of the

         25  critical issues and challenges that need to be
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          2  addressed as we endeavor to finally move forward.

          3                 In 2004 in response to a worldwide

          4  invitation to cultural institutions, the Joyce

          5  International Dance Center and the Signature Theatre

          6  Company were selected as preferred cultural

          7  institutions to occupy a proposed performing arts

          8  center.  Later in 2004, Frank Gehry was selected as

          9  the architect for the proposed center.  With funding

         10  from LMDC, Gehry developed and submitted programming

         11  and preliminary drawings which conceived of

         12  vertically stacked theater spaces including a 900-

         13  seat theater for the Joyce and 250 and 350- seat

         14  theaters for the Signature.  The estimated budget

         15  for that design was nearly a half billion dollars.

         16                 Moreover, it readily became apparent

         17  that the Port Authority would need substantial

         18  access and use of the site for its PATH train

         19  station.  This meant that construction of the

         20  Performing Arts Center would not begin for some

         21  time.

         22                 As it stands today, construction on

         23  the Performing Arts Center cannot begin until 2011.

         24  As a result, the estimated cost for building the

         25  Performing Arts Center rose to as much as $700
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          2  million dollars.  This was the state of affairs that

          3  Governor Spitzer inherited and it is this state of

          4  affairs which mandates that we return to the drawing

          5  board.

          6                 In the past few weeks, we've been

          7  talking to our colleagues in the City about their

          8  new concept for the space.  It envisions a scaled-

          9  down version of the Performing Arts Center facility

         10  that would leave the Joyce as the sole occupant of

         11  that space with a 1,000- seat theater.  As a

         12  companion to the Performing Arts Center at the World

         13  Trade Center site, the City has also suggested

         14  facilities for the Signature Theatre in nearby

         15  Fiterman Hall.

         16                 While this concept is still in its

         17  embryonic stage, LMDC has agreed to provide several

         18  million dollars for the engineering and design work

         19  necessary to assess its feasibility. However, while

         20  that work recedes, we must confront several

         21  important issues before we can more meaningfully

         22  move forward. These are the most critical ones.

         23  First, we need to produce a budget that factors in

         24  the reality that construction of the Performing Arts

         25  Center will not begin until 2011, and that

                                                            12

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT

          2  construction will have to occur over an operating

          3  train station.

          4                 Second, we need to identify the

          5  sources of funding for that budget.  As I mentioned

          6  earlier, the LMDC has committed $55 million dollars

          7  for this project, but to date there are no other

          8  funding commitments in place.

          9                 Third, we need to make sure that we

         10  have the appropriate governing structure in place,

         11  one that is mindful that the Performing Arts Center

         12  will be at the hallowed ground of Ground Zero while

         13  also respecting the need for artistic integrity and

         14  independence.

         15                 Fourth and finally, we need to work

         16  closely with the Lower Manhattan community to make

         17  sure that their voices are heard as the planning and

         18  design processes move forward.

         19                 Done right, a performing arts center

         20  will be a beautiful and meaningful addition to the

         21  cultural fabric of the City, a welcome and necessary

         22  addition to the life of Lower Manhattan and a potent

         23  salve that will erase the scars left by September

         24  11th.

         25                 We look forward to working with the
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          2  City and other local elected officials as well as

          3  the businesses and residents in Lower Manhattan to

          4  achieve this Performing Arts Center.  When we are

          5  finished, we will have realized Governor Spitzer's

          6  vision of Lower Manhattan as not only an

          7  unparalleled economic hub but a culturally vibrant

          8  one as well.  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you very

         10  much, Mr. President.  I also want to thank you for

         11  your entire statement, but in particular for the

         12  reaffirmation of the role of the Lower Manhattan

         13  community in developing and implementing these

         14  plans. Lower Manhattan, as we all know, really is on

         15  the verge of a cultural renaissance with so much

         16  off- site cultural facilities expanding or opening

         17  up, and the creation of the major center for culture

         18  and the arts on this site, in addition to all the

         19  spiritual and moral reasons I expressed earlier,

         20  will truly bring to fruition this vision of Downtown

         21  and Lower Manhattan as a major cultural center for

         22  the entire world.  I know this is the strong feeling

         23  of the Lower Manhattan community and we appreciate

         24  your recognition of the input of the community in

         25  addition to the cultural community and the broad
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          2  community City and State- wide, and we really do

          3  appreciate that.

          4                 In the interest of time, as I

          5  mentioned earlier, I'm going to limit questioning

          6  and with the understanding that of course we will

          7  enjoy an ongoing dialogue with you and your office

          8  and ESDC and reserve  --  Not that we have to

          9  reserve the prerogative because you made it clear

         10  that your door is open to us. So we will certainly

         11  follow- up with ongoing questions and input. Let me

         12  just ask one though just for clarification.  Do you

         13  have in mind any broad time table for how you

         14  envision these four points being worked out?  Are we

         15  talking about resolving them in a matter of months,

         16  or years, or in between?  Do you have any sense of

         17   --

         18                 PRESIDENT SHICK: Certainly nobody

         19  wants to wait years and I think the process to

         20  resolve them should begin immediately and to a

         21  certain extent has begun.  As I said, we have

         22  continuous conversations with our colleagues at the

         23  City regarding some of these questions.  With

         24  respect to the Lower Manhattan community, we

         25  obviously speak to residents, businesses, members of
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          2  that community on a regular basis.  But to the

          3  extent, Chairman Gerson, you'd like to create a more

          4  formal process we'd certainly want to participate in

          5  that as well, but nobody wants to wait years.  It

          6  has been too many years already.  We want to move

          7  this forward and we want to move it forward quickly.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well terrific.

          9  Again, we look forward to following up with you.  We

         10  appreciate your being here with the time constraints

         11  you have, and to be continued.  Thank you very  --

         12  Council Member Liu, did  --  Okay.  Thank you very

         13  much, Mr. President.

         14                 PRESIDENT SHICK: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: This time it's my

         16  pleasure to -  Commissioner Kate Levin of course

         17  from the Department of Cultural Affairs and Andrew

         18  Winters from the Deputy Mayor's Office. Thank you

         19  for being here and I think we  --  I believe for the

         20  record, Mr. Winters, we know you as the person who

         21  does so much, but Director of the Mayor's Office  --

         22                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: Mayor's Office of

         23  Capital Project Development.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I was just going

         25  to say that myself.  Thank you very much.
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          2                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: I didn't mean to

          3  interrupt.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: No, no, my

          5  pleasure.  Welcome. It's a pleasure to see you both,

          6  and take it away however way you wish.

          7                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: Thank you very

          8  much.  It's a pleasure to be here.  Thank you for

          9  inviting us.  We have a couple of slides that we

         10  want to go through in order to illustrate some of

         11  the issues that are at hand here.  As you know, the

         12  Master Plan for the World Trade Center site was

         13  selected in 2002.  You see it on the screen here on

         14  the right including a series of commercial

         15  buildings, transportation improvements, and of

         16  course, at the heart of it, the Memorial.  It also

         17  included a prominent role for culture on the site.

         18  You see the text that says Performing Arts Center.

         19  It's a roughly 40,000 square foot parcel that was

         20  considered integral to making the site into a 24/7

         21  neighborhood.

         22                 In 2003 and 2004, over 100 cultural

         23  institutions were reviewed in an extensive public

         24  process including LMDC, the City and the State, and

         25  that resulted in the selection of the Joyce and the
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          2  Signature Theatres for inclusion at the Performing

          3  Arts Center.

          4                 In October, the Lower Manhattan

          5  Development Corporation selected Gehry Architects to

          6  design the Performing Arts Center.  Over the next

          7  several months, they completed a set of concept

          8  designs.

          9                 What you are looking at here is a

         10  program and a structural concept design that dates

         11  from 2005.  As you can see, the original program was

         12  approximately 250,000 square feet including roughly

         13  a 900- seat theater for the Joyce and rehearsal

         14  studios, along with two theaters for the Signature,

         15  a 250- seat and a 350- seat, along with rehearsal

         16  space as well as event and public spaces.

         17                 It's particularly difficult to build

         18  on this site. There are a lot of other things

         19  happening including a PATH station all the way at

         20  the bottom.  You can see if you look at the very

         21  bottom of that diagram.  All of those columns

         22  supporting those theaters have to be threaded in

         23  between existing tracks that the PATH train runs on.

         24    The orange theater that you see there is the Joyce

         25  Theater and the two blue ones would be the Signature
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          2  Theatre. This was the original concept design.

          3  What's important about theater design is that all of

          4  the performance venues have to be spaces without

          5  columns.  So what you see here in a structural

          6  diagram is all of the columns being brought to the

          7  outside.  All of these spaces were stacked up, and

          8  of course as a unique engineering challenge here and

          9  this, as I said, is a diagram of how to solve that

         10  problem.

         11                 I want to thank the people.  I think

         12  there are some of them here today from the Port

         13  Authority who worked with us to develop this concept

         14  plan and to really work through all of the

         15  engineering issues.  It was an amazing engineering

         16  challenge and the incredible thing is that it was

         17  made to work.

         18                 Now the problems it presented were

         19  that in order to achieve this structural complexity

         20   --  First of all, it drove up the cost, but it also

         21  limited the amount of program space.  As the

         22  circulation requirements became more and more

         23  complicated, it began to eat away at the quality of

         24  the program space.

         25                 So in 2006, we began an analysis of
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          2  the work that had been completed by the Lower

          3  Manhattan Development Corporation. In the two years

          4  between the time that Frank Gehry was selected and

          5  the design was evolving, a series of other projects

          6  at the site were moved ahead including the PATH

          7  station, the Freedom Tower, the retail component of

          8  the site as well as a whole series of below grade

          9  and site- wide engineering issues.  As these designs

         10  advanced, they began to take up a lot of the space

         11  at the Performing Arts Center.  Two particular

         12  elements that I'll point out here are the

         13  coordination with the PATH station below as well as

         14  the coordination with a vehicle screening center

         15  which is required, a second vehicle screening center

         16  just off Easy Street.  Trying to fit all of this

         17  program into a limited space caused more and more

         18  compromises to the quality of the facilities.

         19  Combined with the cost analysis which as was

         20  mentioned here before came in just short of $700

         21  million dollars.  We thought is was time to start to

         22  look at different solutions.  We wanted to preserve

         23  a vision of culture in Lower Manhattan.  So we

         24  undertook away to locate both of these institutions

         25  in Lower Manhattan by splitting them up allowing for
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          2  a simpler and less expensive solution to this

          3  problem.

          4                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: To review the

          5  reasons why culture was deemed so important to the

          6  original Master Plan to revitalize the area  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Excuse me.  I

          8  just, for the recorded record, I just need to ask

          9  Commissioner to state who you are.

         10                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Kate Levin,

         11  Commissioner of the New York City Department of

         12  Cultural Affairs.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: We all know that,

         14  but now so does the tape recorder.

         15                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Thank you.  Now

         16  it's official.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: There you go.

         18                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Thank you so

         19  much.  Just wanted to review the key reasons why

         20  culture was deemed so important to the original

         21  Master Plan.  Several factors, first, to revitalize

         22  the area and provide 24/7 activity; to service

         23  residents and workers; to attract businesses that

         24  help improve quality of life; and to enhance one of

         25  the City's signature industries, arts and culture.
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          2                 To that end, the Joyce presented an

          3  opportunity to create a 1,000- seat theater, a size

          4  that doesn't exist in New York City.  We have a

          5  number of performance venues that range up to around

          6  500 or 600 seats, and then we jump up to close to

          7  2,000 seats.  In the inventory of cultural

          8  performance venues, this is somewhat problematic

          9  since it makes it financially infeasible for many

         10  groups, both nationally and locally as well as

         11  internationally, to come and perform here because of

         12  the economics. It is very difficult to find a parcel

         13  big enough to house such a theater, and that drove

         14  us to propose a simplified building on the World

         15  Trade Center site itself for the Joyce's program.

         16                 That program preliminarily includes

         17  the things that you see up on the slide, the

         18  theater, multi- purpose rehearsal studio space, cafe

         19  and book store, event and public spaces and a 52-

         20  week a year programming.  It also is very much a

         21  part of the program to partner with other cultural

         22  institutions and in terms of the next steps for

         23  pursuing this, we are working with all the various

         24  partners involved on a revised concept plan on the

         25  below grade engineering, on the PATH temporary
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          2  egress issues and on the start time for the

          3  construction start.  In particular, we look forward

          4  to working with our partners at the State, the Port

          5  Authority, the LMDC, the World Trade Center Memorial

          6  Foundation, community stakeholders, including

          7  Community Board 1, the cultural community and of

          8  course yourself and members of the Council and this

          9  Committee.

         10                 At the same time, we see an

         11  opportunity for the Signature Theatre Company to

         12  find a location in Lower Manhattan. We are fortunate

         13  to have the City University of New York as a partner

         14  in this effort.  We are exploring with them several

         15  options.  One that has captured the greatest

         16  interest is the possibility of locating them at

         17  Fiterman Hall, and you can see on this diagram the

         18  location of Fiterman just across a green space from

         19  the Performing Arts Center.  We need to engage in an

         20  intensive planning effort to determine whether this

         21  is feasible and we look forward to working with our

         22  partners at CUNY and New York State on these issues.

         23                 In conclusion, clearly a number of

         24  issues remain to be resolved and we will work with

         25  our partners in the months ahead, but we want to go
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          2  on record strongly as stating that this is an

          3  extraordinary opportunity to fulfill the essential

          4  vision of adding to the cultural life of Lower

          5  Manhattan and thereby making a major contribution to

          6  the vitality of New York City.  We're happy to

          7  answer any questions that you have.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well thank you

          9  both very much. Let me start with the same question

         10  I posed to Mr. Shick and that is clearly we have

         11  outstanding issues which need to be resolved before

         12  a plan can be finalized.  You've identified many if

         13  not most if not all of them.  What do you envision

         14  as the time table for resolution?  Are we going to

         15  be able to settle on our final plan within the next

         16  few weeks, months, or are we waiting years?  What is

         17  your envisioned time table?

         18                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: We are currently

         19  engaging in a very intensive planning process with

         20  both organizations and there respective partners.

         21  We hope in the next eight weeks or so to have a much

         22  better sense of the feasibility and the other

         23  various issues relating to both projects.

         24  Thereafter, there will be also significant issues to

         25  work through, design development, and a range of
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          2  other factors, but we are hoping within the next

          3  eight weeks or so to have a much better sense of the

          4  feasibility of this new plan.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Can you just

          6  elaborate a little bit more as what's going to be

          7  happening over these next eight weeks?  What will

          8  fall into place?  What do you expect or hope to fall

          9  into place?

         10                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: Yes.  Over the next

         11  eight weeks or so, what we'd like to do  --  There

         12  are two tracks that we're working on.  One is

         13  working with the institutions themselves because

         14  when you change the building you really ask them to

         15  change the program and reexamine all of the issues

         16  that they've looked at. Now both institutions have

         17  worked a lot and have thought a lot about what they

         18  want in their new home, but that needs to be

         19  reexamined.  So we're going to work with them to

         20  define the program of each building.

         21                 At the same time, both the World

         22  Trade Center site and Fiterman Hall are being

         23  developed, one by the Port Authority, one by CUNY.

         24  So we will be working closely with them both to

         25  understand at what point we need to fit in to their
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          2  design and construction schedules.  So it's really

          3  being driven both from the outside and from the

          4  inside.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: And actually you

          6  presaged my next question which pertained to the

          7  ongoing site work by the Port Authority, and I

          8  believe we're going to be hearing from the Port

          9  Authority a little bit later in this hearing, but if

         10  they are affixing the underground structure

         11  including its support mechanisms clearly that needs

         12  to relate to what may be built above.  So do you

         13  have a sense as to when the Port Authority  --  you

         14  know when we reach the point where if the Port

         15  Authority doesn't hear from you it has to either

         16  stop work or roll the dice?  How far away are we

         17  away from that?

         18                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: Right.  We've been

         19  meeting with the Port Authority every week over the

         20  last several months about this, and we will continue

         21  to meet with them every week with all of their

         22  different teams that are working on the site.  We

         23  don't want to be in a position to slow the project

         24  down at the World Trade Center site whether it's the

         25  PATH, Freedom Tower, the Memorial or any other

                                                            26

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT

          2  portion of the site.  So we're in a continuous and

          3  ongoing dialogue with the Port Authority.

          4                 We've also initiated discussions with

          5  the CUNY, and we are, again, meeting with them

          6  either weekly or bi- weekly to continue that

          7  discussion.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So you're really

          9  good.  You're like seguing in to all of my

         10  questioning.  So CUNY, have you received the

         11  commitment from the Chancellor for the CUNY system

         12  subject to financial and arrangements of course that

         13  they would be interested in hosting the Signature

         14  Theatre in a rebuilt Fiterman Hall?

         15                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: The Chancellor

         16  has indicated his great enthusiasm for seeing if he

         17  can make this project work, yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Terrific.  So

         19  let's talk a little about budget and money.  We

         20  started with a $500 million dollar envisioned budget

         21  for the creation of the center.  As you know, it was

         22  bumped up to $700 million before it was decided that

         23  $700 million was too expensive given everything else

         24  that we had to do.  The State has pledged, we just

         25  heard, $55 million, but clearly that is a fraction

                                                            27

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT

          2  of the total capital cost necessary.  Clearly part

          3  of what's driving and what needs to drive the

          4  eventual configuration are budgetary constraints.

          5  So what is the view of the Administration as to

          6  those constraints?  What type of expense are we

          7  talking about collectively?  Putting aside the issue

          8  of how the money is going to be raised and from what

          9  sources, but what is a target budget for the

         10  creation of this center?  Are we back to $500?  Are

         11  we trying to get it done under $500 million dollars?

         12    If it's under $500 million dollars, how much

         13  under?  Does this factor in the point that

         14  construction above ground will not start until 2011?

         15    In other words, to put it another way, how much

         16  money are we going to have to raise to implement the

         17  concept that you have outlined?

         18                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: The short answer

         19  is we don't know yet and that's part of what we hope

         20  to get a much better sense of through this planning

         21  process in the next eight weeks.  It's also

         22  essential that we foreground the fact that this has

         23  to be affordable to build and affordable for the

         24  organizations to manage. That said, we also need to

         25  make a spectacular offering of culture in Lower
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          2  Manhattan.  So we're trying to balance all those

          3  different demands.  It is definitely are sense that

          4  this current plan will be substantially less costly

          5  than the last estimate of a performing arts complex

          6  with the two organizations in it on Ground Zero.

          7  Beyond that, we really need to work very hard and

          8  very quickly to get a much better sense of what

          9  those actual costs would be.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: That last

         11  estimate to which you refer, that's the $700 million

         12  estimate?

         13                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Are you looking

         15  to come in at a number that's less than the $500

         16  million estimate?

         17                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Ideally, yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Would you say

         19  $400, $300?

         20                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: Yes and yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: You must have

         22  some target number that you kind of view as the

         23  outer edge of affordability.  Can you give us a

         24  sense of that?

         25                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Part of the
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          2  problem, Councilman, is that given the way that

          3  construction is escalating, and it's one of our big

          4  concerns for the viability of this project in

          5  general, is that the outer edge keeps changing.  We

          6  just feel strongly that it's unfair to the

          7  organizations and to the process to try and jump out

          8  a number too soon, but the bottom line is we're very

          9  cost conscious and hope to have and hope to have a

         10  much better sense very shortly.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: And is this part

         12  of the work that's going to go on over the next

         13  eight weeks so that at the end of the eight weeks we

         14  should have a clearer sense of what we're talking

         15  about having to raise?

         16                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: That's correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Speaking of

         18  fundraising, putting aside the actual dollar number,

         19  who do you envision, or what entity do you envision,

         20  as the lead fundraiser?  Is it the Memorial

         21  Foundation?  Who will be in charge of raising the

         22  money, if you will?

         23                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: We need to get a

         24  better sense of the projects and their cost before

         25  we can finally determine that. Both organizations
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          2  have committed to raising funds themselves, and

          3  obviously there's going to need to be a real strong

          4  public/private partnership to make this happen.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Just to

          6  reiterate, it will be some form of a public/private

          7  partnership involving contributions presently from

          8  both the State and the City, the Memorial Foundation

          9  and the companies themselves.  Is that a fair  --

         10                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: That's what we

         11  assume, but, again, we'll know better shortly.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Do you anticipate

         13  then that the fundraising effort, or the first

         14  phases of fundraising, could begin some time after

         15  this eight week period when we  --  Let me ask you

         16  to put it another way, as soon as we have affirmed

         17  the concept with the two companies?  Let me put this

         18  question in context.  As you know, there was early

         19  on some discussion as to whether or not fundraising

         20  for the memorial sector and the cultural sector

         21  should proceed as part of one unified fundraising

         22  effort, and ultimately it was decided that it should

         23  be segmented.  That fundraising for the memorial

         24  sector should proceed first, and as we all know,

         25  that has begun and that fundraising for the cultural
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          2  center should wait. My question to you is now what

          3  is your view on what the fundraising for the

          4  cultural center should wait for to happen or what

          5  should happen before the fundraising for the

          6  cultural center can begin certainly by the companies

          7  who will be at the site?

          8                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Practically

          9  speaking, real fundraising can't start until there

         10  is a physical vision of what these two projects are

         11  going to look like.  So while we'll know a lot more

         12  in eight weeks, it's really not possible to go out

         13  to the philanthropic marketplace for some time

         14  thereafter until there has been an opportunity to

         15  figure out what the architecture is going to look

         16  like because this is really about an overall vision.

         17    So that's a relatively concise answer about the

         18  timeline on fundraising.

         19                 It's also the case that with two

         20  different venues, they will be on two different

         21  timelines in terms of when construction can start.

         22  As mentioned, the performing arts complex on the

         23  site won't be able to start for a number of years

         24  because of the need to have the temporary PATH exit

         25  there.  It is our assumption that the Signature
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          2  project will be able to start much sooner, and

          3  therefore, have a different timeline in terms of

          4  beginning of fundraising.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: How much sooner?

          6  Do you have a sense?

          7                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: I think we are

          8  pretty sure that we know that construction on the

          9  WTC site can't start until 2011 at the earliest.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Right.

         11                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Fiterman, our

         12  sense is probably 2009.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: As we know, the

         14  demolition schedule is kicking in and we hope it

         15  will be taken down by the end of this year, and

         16  certainly by then we will have resolved the site

         17  location issue, but we're turning to the fundraising

         18  for just one more moment.  Did I understand then you

         19  to suggest that once we have the physical vision,

         20  once we have location confirmation for the cultural

         21  anchors, at that point there's no practical

         22  impediment to begin fundraising?

         23                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: I think that's

         24  roughly correct. It's obviously going to depend on

         25  the organizations themselves and how best to get
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          2  people engaged and interested, but you can't start

          3  before you have those things.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I understand

          5  that's required. My question is is that sufficient

          6  to begin a fundraising effort from your experience?

          7                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: By the way, let

          9  me just for the record, President Shick referred to

         10  the process which led to the selection of the

         11  Signature and Joyce companies.  Both of you have

         12  referred to those companies as anchors tenants in

         13  your plan.  So just to make it crystal clear on the

         14  record, is everyone proceeding with the

         15  understanding that obviously subject to the

         16  decisions that have to be made by the two companies

         17  themselves, but at this point, we're proceeding with

         18  the presumption that these two companies, at one

         19  location or another, will remain the anchors for the

         20  cultural center about which we're talking?

         21                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Absolutely, and

         22  it's a honor and a source of great excitement to us

         23  to work with organizations of this caliber.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I think you

         25  stated in your testimony, but again, let me just
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          2  make sure we are all on the same page that there

          3  will be opportunities for appropriate either

          4  permanently based smaller companies or visiting

          5  smaller companies to have the appropriate presence

          6  as part of the center.  Is that part  --

          7                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Know that the

          8  Joyce as with the Signature are planning to testify

          9  themselves about their programs, but the

         10  understanding particularly because the 900, 1,000-

         11  seat venue is so precious in the City's inventory of

         12  venues, it has very much been a part and continues

         13  to be part of the Joyces' vision that other

         14  organizations will use that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: And actually

         16  Commissioner, and by the way, in the interest of

         17  time if I didn't adequately acknowledge the

         18  brilliant cultural leadership role you have played

         19  not only in Lower Manhattan but for our entire City

         20  let me so state that as I just did.  From your

         21  experience, can you just elaborate on what is the

         22  importance for the City's cultural inventory as you

         23  put it of 900 to 1,000 seats in terms of having a

         24  theater of that size?  What does that add that is

         25  missing, if anything?  What is the significance of
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          2  those numbers?

          3                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Most crudely put,

          4  it's economics.  There are major dance companies

          5  that don't currently visit New York, or don't

          6  currently visit New York in full strength, or even

          7  New York- based companies that don't perform here as

          8  much as they might because of the different

          9  economics of either performing in a small theater

         10  and not being able to maximize your return, or

         11  performing in a very large theater and potentially

         12  jeopardizing your financial situation by not being

         13  able to sell out the house. So having  --  It's sort

         14  of like the three bears thing.  You've got to have

         15  something that's not too hot and not too cold to be

         16  able to attract companies.

         17                 In terms of the issue of competitive

         18  advantage, New York, we think, continues to be the

         19  dance capital of the world, but lots of other

         20  countries are taking a great interest in this field

         21  and are providing a great number of amenities for

         22  these performers. So it's essential that we step up

         23  and create a kind of venue that will continue to

         24  allow, again, companies both in the City, but almost

         25  more urgently, companies from elsewhere to come here
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          2  so that we can see their work, so our audiences and

          3  our artists can fully engage with the wealth of

          4  what's going on in this particular field.          This

          5  is also thought of as a venue that won't just serve

          6  as dance, but will service other art forms as well.

          7  So it's extremely exciting to have the possibility

          8  of having this kind of venue in the City.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So from your

         10  perspective as the City's Cultural Commissioner and

         11  leader is the creation of the theaters and the

         12  cultural space of which you know we're talking

         13  important to the City as a whole to it standing as a

         14  cultural center beyond its importance to the Ground

         15  Zero site and the Lower Manhattan community?

         16                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: That's absolutely

         17  true, and I will also say I mean the 1,000- seat

         18  theater is really unique in the City.  I would say

         19  the Signature's program by bringing on line more

         20  small and mid- size venues is also extremely

         21  important to the City's theatrical community.  We

         22  currently have close to 400 non- profit theaters in

         23  the City and they are an enormous source of vitality

         24  for our creative sector.  So by servicing not only

         25  one of the premiere theater companies like Signature
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          2  itself by creating venues that can potentially

          3  service other organizations, it's a big plus for the

          4  City.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: And speaking of

          6  those other organizations, either visiting or

          7  permanently based in addition to the Joyce and the

          8  Signature, does the City's vision involve a degree

          9  of cultural diversity?  As you know, the Lower

         10  Manhattan community encompasses the community of

         11  Chinatown, one of the country's and world's most

         12  significant Asian- American communities in terms of

         13  culture and cultural organizations as well as in

         14  terms of the overall dynamics.  Will there be

         15  opportunities generated as a result of this

         16  development for presentations by Asian- American

         17  performing artists and arts organizations and by a

         18  diverse grouping of cultural forms and

         19  presentations?

         20                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: A key reason for

         21  this, the initial selection of both the Joyce and

         22  the Signature, is that they are organizations that

         23  represent diversity of all kinds, creative diversity

         24  absolutely at their best.  So yes, it is a key part

         25  of the vision of both of these organizations
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          2  already, and by giving them expanded space to do

          3  what they do so well, I think we absolutely

          4  anticipate that creative diversity of all its kinds

          5  will be showcased powerfully in Lower Manhattan.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: As you know, and

          7  again I want to clarify this to avoid any

          8  misunderstanding for the record, but we have been

          9  talking, you have played a very significant role in

         10  pushing forward our plans for the Create Asian-

         11  American Performing Arts Center elsewhere in Lower

         12  Manhattan.  Proceeding with this project would in no

         13  way, I take it, undercut or have any bearing on that

         14  project in a way that would slow it down.

         15                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: How much of a

         16  good thing can you stand?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: We have no limits

         18  here Downtown.

         19                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Exactly.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So let me talk

         21  about the architecture of the building.  Is it still

         22  envisioned the building on the Ground Zero site?  Do

         23  we still envision Frank Gehry as the lead architect,

         24  or is that being reevaluated?

         25                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Gehry is still on
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          2  board.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: And has he

          4  expressed any comment on this latest proposal that

          5  you outlined?  Is he okay with that in other words?

          6                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: He has expressed

          7  his excitement at making it work.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Again, I'm trying

          9  to be mindful of everyone's schedule.  It seems the

         10  rain has accelerated everyone's business or the

         11  degree of scheduling conflicts, but in terms of the

         12  budget for the necessary planning process to take

         13  you through the next eight weeks, and to put in

         14  place, and to come up with the ultimate design plans

         15  and concept proposal  --  President Shick testified

         16  that LMDC has committed an amount of money in the

         17  millions for that effort.  Do you have everything

         18  you need for this phase?  Have they committed a

         19  sufficient amount?  Is the City committing money?

         20  Do you need more money for the preliminary process

         21  to successfully unfold?

         22                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: We believe we have

         23  everything we need for the preliminary process.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: What is

         25  everything?
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          2                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: Again, for the

          3  preliminary, the several million dollars that the

          4  President referred to is for a much longer term of

          5  design and planning.  We're really only talking

          6  about  --  I don't have the numbers  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So is that

          8  several or seven?

          9                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: Several.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: And several

         11  being?

         12                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: I don't know the

         13  exact figures.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay.

         15                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: But over the next

         16  several months, the eight weeks or so that we've

         17  talked about, just a few hundred thousand dollars.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay.  So you'll

         19  get everything done within this eight week period.

         20  We'll have a final concept proposal and they we'll

         21  be able to go full speed ahead.

         22                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: That's the plan.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: That's the plan.

         24  And I know that we're capable, and certainly you all

         25  are capable of meeting that plan.
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          2                 Let me just finally ask you and we

          3  all know there's just been a transition in Albany,

          4  but in your conversations with the State so far and

          5  with ESDC, are you aware of any objections or

          6  concerns over the concept you all have proposed?

          7                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: I think the

          8  discussion that you heard here before from President

          9  Shick was exactly the lines of discussion that we

         10  have expressed to them, concerns and issues that are

         11  open issues that need to be resolved, and they have

         12  agreed with us that those are the open issues.  I

         13  think you heard them all laid out here today.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Are there any

         15  other open issues that they've left out that you

         16  know of or can think of?

         17                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: No, I think not.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Is it your

         19  understanding that part of one of the issues that

         20  we've had on the Ground Zero site development in all

         21  respects, not just the cultural, is sorting out the

         22  governance of who is doing what, who is in charge of

         23  what, who has to okay what.  We talked about the

         24  fundraising effort earlier, but in terms of the site

         25  logistics for the part that is going to be on the
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          2  Ground Zero site proper if you will, is it your

          3  understanding that it will remain the LMDC that will

          4  have the kind of ultimate sign- off on that?  How

          5  will the governance unfold? Obviously, with Fiterman

          6  Hall it's CUNY, but on the Ground Zero site itself,

          7  proper, is it LMDC?  Has there been some seeding of

          8  authority?

          9                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: It's really a

         10  combination, I think, of the LMDC and the Port

         11  Authority.  They've been working very closely

         12  together as you know over the last number of years.

         13  I think as the construction process has moved

         14  forward and I think the Port could speak to this

         15  more extensively.  The Port has taken a much more

         16  active role as they're really the construction

         17  managers at the site.  So we would see that continue

         18  as the continuation of that transition as it goes

         19  from the planning to the construction phases of the

         20  Port Authority really being in the lead on so many

         21  of the site logistics and coordination issues that I

         22  think you're describing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: But beyond

         24  coordination in terms of ultimate responsibility for

         25  saying this is what we are going to build here, have
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          2  you all been given that authority?  Is it your

          3  understanding that we the City can propose, but it's

          4  still the LMDC with the acquiescence of the Port?

          5  How do you  --  You must have some sense of how the

          6  governance is going to work.

          7                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: I think at that

          8  moment it all has to happen in collaboration.  It's

          9  really the City working with Empire State

         10  Development Corporation, along with the Port

         11  Authority on the technical issues, as well as LMDC

         12  on some of the governance issues.  It's really a

         13  combination.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So in other

         15  words, nothing has changed.

         16                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: No, I think things

         17  have  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: In terms of

         19  governance.

         20                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: I think that things

         21  have changed and things are a lot clearer now then

         22  they were.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay well then

         24  I'm going to push you to elaborate on this a little

         25  bit.  In what way have things clarified in terms of
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          2   --  You are going to come up with a proposal after

          3  eight weeks, and I know that as part of the process

          4  you are going to be consulting with the State, but

          5  ultimately you know some one has to say yes, this is

          6  what we're going to build.  I mean again, is that

          7  going to be LMDC?  Is that going to be the Mayor's

          8  Office?  Is that going to  --

          9                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: I think it really

         10  is a consensus. What I was referring to  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So I reiterate,

         12  nothing has changed.

         13                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: I think what I was

         14  referring to when I said things have changed is I

         15  think there is a level of reality at the site  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: In terms of the

         17  actual plan.

         18                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: A better level of

         19  understanding of both the engineering, the costs,

         20  and the schedule which really drives a much greater

         21  sense of when a decision is made, it can actually be

         22  implemented.  That's the difference.

         23                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: I think the very

         24  process of coming up with this alternate solution

         25  for a cultural Lower Manhattan demonstrates a degree
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          2  of decision making and procedure that we think is

          3  improved and expedited.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So is it fair to

          5  say that at the end of the day, before things can

          6  start to happen, we're all really going to have to

          7  be on the same page, the City, the LMDC, the Port

          8  and of course, the City Council.

          9                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: Yes.

         10                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Absolutely.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay.  Well then

         12  I think, Council, we should schedule our next

         13  hearing for eight weeks from today, our next hearing

         14  on this topic, and we'll look forward to hearing the

         15  results of the process.  Though I know we will

         16  continue to dialogue and input with you and be part

         17  of the process, and as I said in my opening

         18  statement, we look forward to working with the

         19  Bloomberg Administration with your office as

         20  collaboratively to get the job done.  Thank you.

         21                 You look like, Mr. Winters, you were

         22  about say something so.

         23                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: No, thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: No.  Okay.  Well

         25  thank you all very much.  Thank you, Commissioner,
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          2  and again, thank you for all the good art you've

          3  spread around.

          4                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Thank you.

          5                 DIRECTOR WINTERS: Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: For the people who

          7  just got here, if you're here to testify, please

          8  fill out one of these.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: At this point, I

         10  will call the representatives of the Port Authority

         11  of New York and New Jersey. I believe it's Mr.

         12  Steven Plate, and if there is anyone else with you,

         13  please come forward and introduce yourselves.

         14                 Mr. Plate, it's a pleasure to once

         15  again welcome you to City Hall, and please take it

         16  away.  Thank you so much.

         17                 MR. PLATE: Thank you, Chairman

         18  Gerson.  My name is Steven Plate.  I'm Director of

         19  the World Trade Center Construction for the Port

         20  Authority of New York and New Jersey.  I would like

         21  to thank you and the members of the Committee for

         22  this opportunity to provide an update on the Port

         23  Authority's efforts and considerations regarding the

         24  proposed Performing Arts Center at the World Trade

         25  Center site.
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          2                 Having worked tirelessly and closely

          3  with the agencies and stakeholders involved, we at

          4  the Port Authority are very excited to report to you

          5  all of the tremendous progress that has been

          6  achieved at the World Trade Center site just in the

          7  past few months.  The Port Authority authorized the

          8  construction of the Freedom Tower this February

          9  including the authorization for nearly $500 million

         10  dollars in construction and professional services

         11  contracts.  The excavation of the core area is

         12  approximately 98 percent complete.  This past week,

         13  we saw the pouring of 776 cubic yards of concrete

         14  for the Freedom Tower foundation bringing our total

         15  amount of concrete placed to date approximately to

         16  6,900 cubic yards.

         17                 The Port Authority also assumed the

         18  construction oversight of the World Trade Center

         19  Memorial this past October. Twenty- one of the 59

         20  Memorial spot footings have been poured, and all 17

         21  required rock anchors have been installed.  Major

         22  shear wall structures, which define the north and

         23  east sides of the Memorial, are in the process of

         24  being completed.

         25                 The World Trade Center Hub Project
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          2  has achieved even more significant milestones.  The

          3  east bathtub, which will be similar to the existing

          4  west bathtub in scale and depth, but arguably much

          5  more complex and technically challenging, has

          6  started construction with 15 slurry wall panels

          7  poured to date.  In order to install slurry wall

          8  panels beneath the existing temporary PATH Station

          9  entrance on Church Street, we are relocating the

         10  entrance a bit farther south on Church.  The

         11  underpinning work for the New York City Transit

         12  Subway 1 Line, which will allow the line to be

         13  supported from below and excavation and construction

         14  to proceed all around the 1 Line, is continuing.  A

         15  total of 178 mini piles have been drilled with 79

         16  completed on the centerline.  The remaining 99 piles

         17  have been drilled at the north end, and a total of

         18  157 piles have been grouted.  The east bathtub work

         19  will create a volume of space, 70 feet below grade,

         20  to accommodate the redevelopment needs of the World

         21  Trade Center site, including the construction of

         22  Towers 2, 3, 4 and retail.

         23                 The Port Authority is not only

         24  committed to executing this meaningful

         25  reconstruction, in a scale few have seen in recent
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          2  memory, but we are also very supportive of the

          3  planned presence of cultural facilities in the

          4  Performing Arts Center, namely PAC.  Since the Lower

          5  Manhattan Development Corporation unveiled the PAC

          6  conceptual design in December 2004, we have

          7  unreservedly included the design in all of our

          8  Master Plan drawings.  As we use the Master Plan as

          9  a diagrammatic tool to provide and coordinate with

         10  World Trade Center stakeholders, the inclusion of

         11  PAC design ensures that all participants understand

         12  and respect the design intentions of the PAC.

         13                 In addition, the Port Authority

         14  actively engaged LMDC to focus on the sub- grade

         15  infrastructure coordination at the PAC site.  Based

         16  on the 2004 Frank Gehry design, the PA and LMDC

         17  worked together and accommodated all major

         18  structural, mechanical, services, security and other

         19  support facilities without modifying the above-

         20  grade theater layout.  The result of this

         21  preliminary but comprehensive collaboration is fully

         22  reflected in the animation, which I will share with

         23  you in a moment.

         24                      The intensive collaborative

         25  effort between the Port Authority and LMDC was very
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          2  productive through October of last year.  This

          3  coordination recently resumed with the City, and we

          4  are providing information regarding our current

          5  scope and schedule plans for the sub- grade.  Based

          6  on the coordination work to date, however, the Port

          7  Authority is confident that the PAC sub- grade

          8  design is feasible and can be fully integrated with

          9  the adjacent projects and programs at the World

         10  Trade Center site.

         11                 The City of New York has also

         12  embarked on a process to evaluate the site and the

         13  functional programs, performing a comprehensive

         14  review of the project, which considers all the

         15  information we have.

         16                 We at the Port Authority are now

         17  eagerly anticipating this continued coordination,

         18  with detailed PAC designs to help advance the

         19  rebuilding effort.  Meanwhile, we are about to

         20  commence the construction that would temporarily

         21  relocate the access to the PATH station from its

         22  current Church Street location to the PAC site.

         23  This will enable us to proceed with the building of

         24  the permanent station Calatrava has designed.  This

         25  temporary relocation is engineered to allow PAC to
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          2  begin its foundation construction prior to removal

          3  of the PATH structure.  Such arrangements would

          4  further coordinate with the Port Authority's

          5  schedule for shutdowns of certain PATH tracks.  By

          6  sharing these rotating track outages with the

          7  Transportation Hub construction, the PAC project may

          8  reap significant cost savings.

          9                 This arrangement will allow the PAC

         10  to construct all of its foundations and relocate

         11  effected track- level utilities in time to continue

         12  the above- grade structure when the PATH temporary

         13  access is removed.

         14                 The following short  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Excuse me, Mr.

         16  Plate.  If I could just interject for a brief moment

         17  before the animation, which we are all looking

         18  forward to seeing.  As I announced earlier, I need

         19  to divert just briefly from the proceedings in order

         20  to conclude other business of the Committee.

         21                 MR. PLATE: Sure.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: At this time, the

         23  Committee on Lower Manhattan Redevelopment will

         24  consider and vote upon Resolution 747, a resolution

         25  calling upon the United States Environmental
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          2  Protection Agency to abandon its technically and

          3  scientifically flawed 2006 Test and Clean Program

          4  and work with residents and workers, community and

          5  labor organizations and elected officials to design

          6  an effective, science- based sampling and clean up

          7  program for residences and workplaces in Lower

          8  Manhattan, Brooklyn and all affected areas.  The

          9  Chair recommends an affirmative vote for reasons

         10  that have been discussed at the previous hearing.

         11                 Before I ask any of my colleagues if

         12  you wish to comment before the vote, I would just

         13  announce that straight from dealing with the

         14  exigencies of flooding, we are joined by Council

         15  Member Helen Foster, and we really appreciate your

         16  being here.  We wish your district, as well as the

         17  rest of the City, well.  Do any Committee Members

         18  have any comments, or wish to make any statements on

         19  Resolution 747 before the vote?  Hearing none then

         20  let's call the vote.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Gerson

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Foster

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Liu
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Yassky

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Mr. Chair, I

          5  just want to thank you so much not just this

          6  resolution but for the several hearings we've done,

          7  which I think have made the case beyond a shadow of

          8  a doubt that the EPA's conduct of the clean up

          9  effort is grossly negligent and is continuing to put

         10  people at risk, and I hope that your resolution,

         11  your urgings here, are successful.  Much depends on

         12  it.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I vote aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Resolution is adopted

         14  by a vote of four in the affirmative, zero in the

         15  negative and no abstentions. Members, please sign

         16  the Committee report.  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you

         18  Committee Members, and Mr. Plate, thank you for your

         19  indulgence, and please proceed.

         20                 MR. PLATE: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         21                 Before proceeding into the following

         22  short animation, I would like to just in summary

         23  reaffirm that the Port Authority supported and

         24  accommodated a Performing Art Center in a meaningful

         25  way and a substantive way as proposed by the LMDC

                                                            54

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT

          2  for the World Trade Center site and is ready to

          3  continue working with the appropriate partners to

          4  advance the design and construction of this

          5  facility.  We believe that this will compliment the

          6  Memorial, transportation and commercial facilities,

          7  and will also serve Lower Manhattan by helping to

          8  enrich the cultural life of the local communities.

          9                 I appreciate this opportunity to

         10  update you on the status of our work at the World

         11  Trade Center site, and I look forward to providing

         12  further briefings in the future.  I am very proud to

         13  announce that we are making tremendous progress on

         14  all fronts relative to the World Trade Center site

         15  redevelopment. Namely, the Freedom Tower, the

         16  Memorial and the East Bathtub.

         17                 Thank you for your unwavering

         18  support.  It is vital to the success of this

         19  unprecedented undertaking.  Together we will leave a

         20  legacy for generations to enjoy.

         21                 If there are any questions, I would

         22  be glad to take to provide you with more details,

         23  but before I do that I'd like to just walk you

         24  through  --  Before we start it, what this basically

         25  shows is some of the progress to date, and
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          2  specifically what we've done is superimpose the

          3  different construction of that particular location.

          4  Namely, the Performing Arts Center, and it will give

          5  you a sense of how we've accommodated the different

          6  challenges and the sophistication of the execution

          7  plan as well as the staging and logistics.  If we

          8  could just walk through it.  I'll talk you through

          9  it briefly as it begins to work through the process.

         10                 What you see here is basically the

         11  Performing Arts Center, and what you see first going

         12  in and this is done in a sequential way, both time

         13  related as well as construction related, utilizing

         14  existing drawings that have been developed.

         15                 This is basically the beginning of

         16  the new PATH terminal entrance, which will be moved

         17  from Church Street.  While that's going on, you see

         18  a number of panels moving forward as we see here

         19  which we call super columns which we've worked

         20  closely with LMDC and now beginning to work closely

         21  with New York City to develop a series of columns,

         22  outlined in green, that will both support the second

         23  vehicular screening center which was identified in

         24  the Jim Calstrum Report.  As a result of that, we'll

         25  be bringing those columns up to a certain point, and
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          2  as that is being done, and what we'll utilize as

          3  that is being done is the outages associated with

          4  each one of those tracks so you don't need

          5  additional outages. It should make it much more

          6  efficient.

          7                 In this slide  --  In the prior one

          8  you see the entrance of the vehicular screening

          9  center and lastly  --  We just put a silhouette

         10  because we are not exactly sure what the ultimate

         11  design will be of the Performing Arts Center.  So

         12  what we've basically showed you is how that will

         13  evolve over a several year period which I'll share

         14  with you in more detail.

         15                 That concludes my presentation, Mr.

         16  Chair.  If you have any questions, I'd be happy to

         17  entertain them at this time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you very

         19  much, Mr. Plate, and I just need to once again

         20  remark how fortunate we in the State, City and the

         21  community of Lower Manhattan to have in you such a

         22  outstanding public servant who combines brilliant

         23  engineering with community sensitivity, and we

         24  appreciate that.

         25                 MR. PLATE: Thank you, Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So let me just

          3  ask you  --  You heard testimony earlier that

          4  construction on the part of the Performing Arts

          5  Center, now Performing Arts Center Campus, it

          6  appears that is may be that it's on the Ground Zero

          7  Site Proper, the site that has been subject to your

          8  animation, cannot begin until 2011 due to exigencies

          9  by the Port Authority for other uses or activities

         10  in the area which preclude the above ground

         11  construction.  So let me ask you.  Is that correct?

         12  Is the 2011 an accurate best projection?  Can you

         13  explain why from the engineering standpoint do we

         14  have to wait until 2011, or is there any feasible

         15  means from the engineering standpoint of advancing

         16  the date?  For example, you heard testimony that the

         17  Fiterman Hall site of the proposed plan could be

         18  begin at 2009.  Is there any feasible way, anything

         19  that can be done so that the Ground Zero site part

         20  of the project could also begin in 2009 if not

         21  earlier?

         22                 MR. PLATE: Mr. Chairman, I apologize.

         23    I wasn't here for the other presentation, but if I

         24  could just answer that question in a global sense

         25  and then a little more specifically.
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          2                 If you look at it very simplistically

          3  in the sense of as a non- engineer just say you have

          4  to wait for somebody to get the other entity to get

          5  out of there then it could possibly be that date.

          6  What we're looking at is beginning construction of

          7  foundations and columns as early as 2008 and

          8  proceeding through utilizing  --  Remember I

          9  referred to the track outages, because as you go

         10  through this, you'll see when you take a track out,

         11  you put all the footings in that area and install

         12  them, whether it be footings for the Performing Arts

         13  Center, whether it be for the Vehicular Screening

         14  Center or for the Path Terminal, or even for the

         15  Memorial Foundation because once that track is out,

         16  you don't run trains there so you might as well get

         17  everybody to start to construct in that area at one

         18  time.  So what we're working with the City is  --

         19  And a colloquial expression is engineers like to use

         20  a fast- track approach.  What we would do is start

         21  to breakout those segments.  There would probably be

         22  some utility relocations, because there's probably

         23  some stuff in the way, followed by foundations that

         24  would be installed, followed by the installation of

         25  these super columns.  Now specifically, what we've
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          2  done with the LMDC folk and started to do  --  I

          3  think we've had up to four meetings with New York

          4  City people including Andrew Winters and his staff

          5  and Josh Wolloch.  We started to look at the loads.

          6  Rather than put our columns and their columns and

          7  put a lot of columns in spaces, for many reasons but

          8  two in particular. Rather than just have all these

          9  visual obstructions, could we join columns and also

         10  as a result of that save some money and save some

         11  time.  As we go through that as this evolves, we'll

         12  decide who builds them.  So specifically, if you

         13  have a column that are a few feet apart, and mine

         14  carries a load of x and theirs carries a load of y,

         15  combine the two loads and put them in one footing

         16  and one column and almost  --  I hate to use --  I

         17  apologize.  Correct me if I'm using too many

         18  engineering terms, but reverse engineer the design

         19  to locate the columns where they can be put.  You

         20  can't put a column in the middle of a track, but you

         21  could put it adjacent to the track and have those

         22  columns do double duty.  So if you have a load and I

         23  have a load, we share that load and drive that super

         24  column up to where it has to be to hold the VSC and

         25  ultimately, the Performing Arts Center.
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          2                 We've engaged  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I'm sorry.  The

          4  BSC is?

          5                 MR. PLATE: I'm sorry.  The Vehicular

          6  Screening Center, the one on the north side that

          7  came out of the Kallstrom Report where we had

          8  authorization to proceed with the phase one, stage

          9  one design of that work, and I apologize for using

         10  an acronym.

         11                 That all being said, basically we

         12  share a column as opposed to doing it each one does

         13  their own thing, and that will help progress this

         14  project.  So we're looking at a fast- track

         15  approach, which will allow us to begin in the next

         16  year or so with construction that we have to decide

         17  who does the construction.

         18                 In the mean time, what we have to do

         19  is engage the City in a very proactive way to come

         20  up with the design.  The need the ultimate design of

         21  what's up above so they can tell us what the loads

         22  down below are.

         23                 Now, as an engineer for many years,

         24  for decades now --  It seems like  --  I won't say

         25  centuries, but decades.  What happens is that you
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          2  can approximate.  You can over- design a little bit

          3  just to give you a little cushion in case you have

          4  some flexibility in the ultimate capacity.  So if

          5  you change the design slightly, you're able to use

          6  those same columns.

          7                 I apologize.  This is a long- winded

          8  explanation of I think we can start a lot sooner.  I

          9  plan to start a lot sooner. In the spirit of what

         10  the City wants to do  --  I mean you remember where

         11  we came from.  In the last year, we were going to

         12  have Tower 1, followed by Tower 2, followed by Tower

         13    --  Now we're doing all the same time.  We're

         14  trying to get the Performing Arts in that mode as

         15  well, and that requires us working collaboratively

         16  with the City to accomplish that with LMDC as a

         17  stakeholder as well.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Let me ask you

         19  this.  If everyone gets the design work done as soon

         20  as possible, and gives you everything, all the

         21  information you need on a timely basis so you're

         22  never at a stand still waiting to receive

         23  information, do you think it would be possible to

         24  begin the above ground construction of the

         25  Performing Arts Center before 2011?
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          2                 MR. PLATE: No.  What I'm talking

          3  about is below grade, bringing it up to grade.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Right.  So I'm

          5  saying could you do that  --

          6                 MR. PLATE: Yes, we could do that.

          7  Decouple that from the above ground.  See what will

          8  happen now  --  if I could answer a different way

          9   --  is they'll design the above ground  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Right.

         11                 MR. PLATE:   --  And the concept to

         12  meet your expectations.  Once that's done, then they

         13  tell us what the loads are below ground so we can

         14  start putting footings in the ground. For example,

         15  use the analogy of the Freedom Tower started in

         16  April of last year and will be to grade a year or so

         17  later.  It will be the same thing with PAC.  So

         18  it'll take a couple of years to get above grade.

         19  While that's happening, we have the design and are

         20  able to construct those footings, those columns,

         21  while their designing, they be the City, and with

         22  their consultant I guess, whoever it may be, the

         23  actual building itself.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So once they give

         25  you the design, roughly how long will it take to
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          2  complete the below grade work to the point where

          3  they can get started on the above grade work?

          4                 MR. PLATE: I think we're looking  --

          5  We haven't really worked through that.  I'd be

          6  guessing, but I would think some where around 2010,

          7   '11, in that range.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: '10 to '11.  Now

          9  beyond completing the low grade work, are there any

         10  other factors that push out the date or the time

         11  when the Performing Arts Center construction can

         12  begin, such as the temporary PATH station, or any

         13  construction staging needs by the Port Authority?

         14  Are they operative factors or is it just the below

         15  grade work that is the outer operating factor if you

         16  will?

         17                 MR. PLATE: I think the answer to that

         18  is we have to juggle at least three of those things,

         19  the temporary entrance with the opening of the

         20  Calatrava Building, with the secondary Vehicular

         21  Screening Center and also the design.  I mean the

         22  design has undergone significant changes as of late

         23  and needs to be revised. So a building of that size

         24  and sophistication will take some time before you

         25  reach final design.  So it could take quite a bit of
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          2  time.  I mean right now they're essentially starting

          3  design.  We have to work with them to accomplish

          4  that.  What we do is we do it simplistically, and

          5  you know look at the numbers and it comes out with a

          6  schedule that shows somewhat further than anybody

          7  wants. And I not saying factually, but

          8  theoretically, and then you start to look at ways of

          9  de- coupling critical path items back to pull the

         10  schedule back as much as possible.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So let me ask you

         12  this.  If all this juggling with all you know the

         13  Calatrava Building, the VSC to use again  --

         14                 MR. PLATE: I'm sorry.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: No, no, no.  I

         16  appreciate it. As long as we've identified it once

         17  for the record.  The temporary PATH station, if all

         18  that proceeds on schedule or as expeditiously as

         19  realistically possible, do you think that it is

         20  possible to begin the Performing Arts Center

         21  building as early as 2010?

         22                 MR. PLATE: I think it could probably

         23  get close to that within a year or so, but I

         24  wouldn't want to guess at this point.  We really

         25  just engaged New York City in doing that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay.

          3                 MR. PLATE: And we have to see where

          4  the design is, how sophisticated it is, how it all

          5  comes together.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: As the Chief

          7  Engineer on the project, when would you like to

          8  receive the Performing Arts Center design?

          9                 MR. PLATE: Actually, right now we're

         10  developing a schedule working with them as to when

         11  we need segments of it.  For example, we need the

         12  foundation loads at a certain time, and we're

         13  starting to just  --  We've had a couple of

         14  meetings, as I said earlier, and we're just starting

         15  to get that specific information, but we're looking

         16  in the  --  For example, some of the earlier

         17  information, probably over the next several months.

         18  So they really have to start engaging their

         19  consultant.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So if they don't

         21  get you at least first phase design information in a

         22  couple of months, would that have the effect of

         23  delaying the project beyond the Performing Arts

         24  Center, delaying what you have to do?

         25                 MR. PLATE: To say it a different way,

                                                            66

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT

          2  it would probably miss an opportunity to accelerate

          3  or get it as quickly as possible because what would

          4  happen is we build our footings on the PATH station

          5  on a part location.  If they miss that window to put

          6  their footings in that location, whether they do it

          7  or we do it, then you would miss that window.  We

          8  would go onto to the next window, and they'd have to

          9  double back.  So you miss the opportunity.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So you're going

         11  to go forward no matter what with what you have to

         12  do.  You're not going to stop work and wait if

         13  they're not on time.

         14                 MR. PLATE: Right.  Correct.  Correct.

         15    I mean we'll be somewhat flexible.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: The less missed

         17  synergy  --

         18                 MR. PLATE: Well I want to say we've

         19  been working collaboratively, and I came off of

         20  their train where we had every government agency

         21  involved as well as private/public partnership, and

         22  as you know, I was in charge of that.  We're moving

         23  close to 12 million people a year on JFK Airtrain,

         24  and that worked out real well.  So you just have to

         25  keep working at it.  I mean the goal is to get this
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          2  as soon as possible obviously in a safe fashion.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Sure.

          4                 MR. PLATE: I don't want to down play

          5  it.  I mean I always say to people when I lose  --

          6  You know we're all anxious including myself.  I like

          7  to build.  So that's what I do.  So I like things

          8  going up.  If everybody says there's a lot of work

          9  going on, I want it to go faster, but when you look

         10  at the size and the magnitude of what we're

         11  attempting to do, I think it's unprec --  I don't

         12  think.  It is unprecedented.  I've looked for books

         13  to tell me how to do it.  They don't exist.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I think you're

         15  writing the book, Mr. Plate.

         16                 MR. PLATE: I don't know.  I hope so.

         17  I hope I'm here to finish it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: We're counting on

         19  that.

         20                 MR. PLATE: But just to put a metric

         21  around it, we're building four Empire State

         22  Buildings at the same time essentially, and that's

         23  huge.  Not to mention the Calatrava structure, which

         24  opens, and not to mention 5,000 square feet of

         25  retail, not to mention several acres of a memorial.
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          2  You know all that being done, there's a lot of I'll

          3  say nudging back and forth.  I'm sorry, Chairman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: But no, no, Mr.

          5  Plate.  It sounds like the next couple of months

          6  really are critical if we're going to optimize

          7  opportunity.

          8                 MR. PLATE: Yes.  In fact, we met what

          9  a couple months, maybe two months ago.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I believe so.

         11                 MR. PLATE: And subsequent to that

         12  discussion, I engaged the City on your behalf and

         13  they were very supportive, and we've been meeting

         14  now.  I think we're up to our fourth meeting. Since

         15  then, I got authorization to proceed with the

         16  secondary Vehicular Screening Center.  I've also

         17  accelerated the temporary PATH building.  It's

         18  already under construction, by the way, if you look

         19  out there.  Now we're engaging on how best to design

         20  this and construct this for the public- at- large.

         21  So relative to our discussion, we did proceed with

         22  that and the City has fully engaged us.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well our

         24  community certainly appreciates that.  We'll just

         25  conclude with just a couple of questions and then
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          2   --

          3                 MR. PLATE: Sure.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: You mentioned a

          5  couple of times in your testimony, you referred to

          6  some uncertainty as to who was going to construct

          7  the particular columns.  I think you said whether we

          8  do it or they do it.  Could you just elaborate on

          9  that? What work are you referring to, and is it a

         10  question of who is going to pay for it, or is it a

         11  question of who is actually going to be physically

         12  on- site to do the work, or both?

         13                 MR. PLATE: Well that's an excellent

         14  question because the answer really is all three.  I

         15  mean the design is I think clearly  --  I mean it's

         16  whatever is most efficient, if I can it as a global

         17  way.  Now what I mean by that.  If the PAC site is

         18  being designed and they don't need to design the

         19  footings.  They could tell us we're putting five

         20  kips into your footing.  We are designing the

         21  primary footing, which may handle 20 kips.  So we

         22  just up enough to handle 25  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I'm sorry.  If I

         24  could ask you to back up a half a step.

         25                 MR. PLATE: It's thousands.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: No, no.  Just

          3  first, what is the work?  Are you referring to the

          4  foundations, the loads?  What is the work?

          5                 MR. PLATE: Right now, I'm using the

          6  foundation  -- I'm sorry  --  as an illustrative

          7  example, and the foundations in this case would be a

          8  foundation that rather than put two foundations

          9  right next to each other that one would hold up the

         10  Performing Arts Center, one might hold up the

         11  Vehicular, might as well combine them into one.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So the question

         13  is who is going to do that?

         14                 MR. PLATE: Who is going to design it

         15  first.  Then whoever is most equipped, whoever is

         16  doing the primary work, and we'll work that out.  I

         17  mean it'll naturally occur.

         18                 Who best to construct it?  Who's

         19  physically going to be in that area?  Does the City

         20  want to hold a contract and follow the procedures or

         21  does it work better for the Port Authority?  That

         22  will be something whatever works best from a time

         23  point of view, but we'll communicate very clearly

         24  our needs on timing as well as technical information

         25  on loads and things of that nature.

                                                            71

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT

          2                 Who pays for it?  The last thing is

          3  what we do is we've come up with a very precise

          4  formula based on the capacity. Let's use the footing

          5  example.  If it's holding up half your load and half

          6  our load then it should be 50 percent Performing

          7  Arts Center, 50 percent us.  So we work through

          8  that, and by the way, this has been set as a

          9  precedent throughout the site because the best way I

         10  could describe it whether it's a three- dimensional

         11  jigsaw puzzle or Rubic's cube, you know, Larry

         12  Silverstein is building stuff for us.  We're

         13  building stuff for him, power distribution centers

         14  to support the site.  Memorial is doing the same.

         15  We're doing for them.  They're doing for us.

         16  Freedom Tower, PATH, whatever makes sense.  We don't

         17  have people  --  There was a period in the project

         18  years ago that had walls next to walls to hold up my

         19    --  PATH would hold up one wall and there would be

         20  another wall for the Memorial.  We combined the

         21  walls, saved money, had one person construction it,

         22  shared information between designers on a

         23  professional level and saved time and money for the

         24  project.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: What is being
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          2  done elsewhere on the site with respect to other

          3  structures with similar type of work?  Is there a

          4  general approach?  I mean is the Port Authority

          5  doing it all with support from the other entities

          6  involved?

          7                 MR. PLATE: Yes.  I mean the Port

          8  Authority has been --  Over the last year, as you

          9  know, the Port Authority has taken a larger and

         10  larger role, but it's been very collaborative.  I'll

         11  use an example of something that's working very

         12  well.  In fact, all things are working rather well,

         13  but on the Memorial project for example, they

         14  designed the footings.  They designed them for

         15  themselves and for some structures for the Port

         16  Authority and now we're managing construction using

         17  the contractor.  Those footings will not just hold

         18  up the Memorial, they will also hold up things like,

         19  they'll hold up back office facilities, they'll hold

         20  up the Plaza, they'll hold up a whole series of

         21  structures, and it's very challenging to understand

         22  who does what to who, but we keep close tabs on it

         23  and make sure that we all communicate with each

         24  other because if we leave something out, that would

         25  not be a good thing.  So I used the Memorial as an
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          2  example that's been working very well.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So based on your

          4  experiences to date on the site, would you care to

          5  venture a recommendation as to the best way to

          6  proceed with respect to this Performing Arts Center

          7  area?  Does it make most sense to have the Port

          8  Authority do the design and construction obviously

          9  subject to appropriate financial support, or is it

         10  more cost effective to do it some other way?  Do you

         11  care to share your thoughts on that?

         12                 MR. PLATE: I think it works anyway.

         13  Coming off of Airtrain, we built Jamaica Station for

         14  the Long Island Railroad, and it worked very well.

         15  I'm sure you have used that facility.  We were

         16  essentially  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON:  I don't get to

         18  travel very much these days.

         19                 MR. PLATE: No?  I'll take you out one

         20  day.  I'll give you a nice ride.  It's a beautiful

         21  facility.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay.  There you

         23  go.

         24                 MR. PLATE: I'm bragging a little bit.

         25    But it works very well.  As far as specifically, I
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          2  mean it has worked well with the City, it's worked

          3  well with the Memorial.

          4                 I mean one consideration you may want

          5  to think about is on the Memorial there was

          6  discussion about us taking over the design, but I

          7  think the people in charge of that area wanted  --

          8  And obviously we have a personal interest in making

          9  sure that's done because obviously we lost our own

         10  home and many of our own employees, but it was

         11  something that they really had the lead on, knew

         12  what they wanted to do, and we left it to them

         13  programmatically in design then we took it over from

         14  construction. We're good at building, and we're very

         15  good at that.  We're good at designing.

         16                 I think on the Performing Arts Center

         17  there is a lot of information that needs to be

         18  shared amongst yourselves, and make sure that

         19  everybody is in the loop.  We'd be happy to be a

         20  partner with it along side your folks, but you know

         21  me.  I give you my gut feel.  My gut feel is that I

         22  think we have organization in place. We could give

         23  it a shot and see how it works out working with the

         24  City.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: But clearly you
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          2  need to be in the loop.

          3                 MR. PLATE: Absolutely because we can

          4  help you a lot.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: You've done a lot

          6  of underground work so far.  Based on the original

          7  2004 concept design for the Performing Arts Center.

          8  You've done some work, I believe, based on the

          9  original design specification which are now going to

         10  change. In your professional opinion, has there been

         11  any work done based on previous specifications given

         12  to you that would limit the redesign of the

         13  Performing Arts building above ground, or are you

         14  have to redo any of the work?

         15                 MR. PLATE: I think again, it's all

         16  driven by what's above ground, and I'm not sure

         17  exactly how many piers.  The work that will be

         18  utilized is the work of the concept of where we put

         19  footings, how we locate them, how we co-join the

         20  footings and align them properly so both facilities

         21  work.  The part that has to be re looked at is the

         22  amount of load or capacity of those footings as well

         23  as columns to handle the size of the building up

         24  above.  They many go down in size as a result of a

         25  possible reduction in size.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So there is no

          3  real limiting factor based on what was done so far.

          4                 MR. PLATE: No.  In fact, right now

          5  the way we were going, there would be probably over-

          6  design.  We would have additional capacity that you

          7  could use at a later date.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay well Mr.

          9  Plate, you know again this has been very, very

         10  informative, and we will continue to count on your

         11  accessibility as we proceed collaboratively.  Thank

         12  you very much for being here.

         13                 MR. PLATE: Thank you, Council.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you for all

         15  your great work.

         16                 MR. PLATE: All right.  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well we've heard

         18  a lot of talk about the Joyce and Signature

         19  companies, and I think it's time to hear from them.

         20  So at this point, I will call   --  See they're

         21  jumping at the bits.  That's how eager they are, and

         22  we are for them to proceed.  Linda Shelton of the

         23  Joyce Theater and James Houghton of the Signature

         24  Theatre, please proceed however you two choose.

         25                 MS. SHELTON: Good afternoon.  I'm
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          2  Linda Shelton, Executive Director of the Joyce

          3  Theater.  Thank you Chairman Gerson, Committee

          4  members and Council Members for the opportunity to

          5  speak with you today.  On behalf of the Joyce

          6  Theater Foundation's Board of Trustees and staff, it

          7  is my pleasure to share with you our great

          8  enthusiasm for the Performing Arts Center at the

          9  World Trade Center site.

         10                 The Joyce has a 25- year history of

         11  supporting the artists who make dances and serving

         12  the audiences who enjoy it. Over 150,000 patrons

         13  annually see dance at our venues including the Joyce

         14  Theater in Chelsea, Joyce SoHo on Mercer Street and

         15  at Evening Stars, the free outdoor dance series in

         16  Battery Park that we co- present with the Lower

         17  Manhattan Cultural Council as part of the River to

         18  River Festival.

         19                 Our dance education program reaches

         20  into the school system introducing the art of dance

         21  to over 1,500 school children each year.  These

         22  students see world- class dance and work with

         23  teaching artists in their classrooms to gain a

         24  comprehensive understanding of what they're seeing

         25  on the stage, and now the Joyce is preparing to
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          2  expand our operations to include a 1,000- seat

          3  theater in the new Performing Arts Center in Lower

          4  Manhattan.               Given the recent

          5  announcement, we are optimistic with the new model

          6  proposed by the City for the Performing Arts Center

          7  and Cultural Campus.  Working with the City has been

          8  and continues to be very positive.  Both the City

          9  and the Port Authority have asked for our input, and

         10  the Joyce is working to develop a program to ensure

         11  that the PAC proceeds as envisioned.

         12                 As many of you know, and as you've

         13  heard today, the World Trade Center site is a

         14  complicated one with  many stakeholders, and of

         15  course many conflicts.  We are hopeful that by

         16  working with Mayor Bloomberg, Governor Spitzer, the

         17  Port Authority, your office and Community Board 1,

         18  and the Lower Manhattan Development Corporation that

         19  many of these challenges can be addressed and

         20  resolved.  I think that all of these parties would

         21  agree the outcome should be a world- class

         22  Performing Arts Center that every New Yorker can be

         23  proud of.

         24                 Twenty- five year ago when a rundown

         25  movie theater in the heart of the blighted
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          2  neighborhood in Chelsea was converted into a much

          3  needed dance venue, there were obstacles all along

          4  the way.  Armed with hope and vision, the Joyce

          5  Theater brought dance artists and audiences

          6  together.

          7                 The active participation of cultural

          8  groups in the revitalization of Downtown is

          9  paramount.  The Joyce, the Signature Theatre and

         10  others have brought patrons of the arts to their

         11  homes for decades regardless of the neighborhood.

         12  It is the art that drives the audiences to our

         13  theaters.  Given the opportunity, Downtown will be

         14  similarly graced by art and audiences for many, many

         15  years to come.

         16                 All of us at the Joyce remain

         17  committed to this institution's mission to advance

         18  the art of dance and strongly believe that the

         19  proposed venue at the World Trade Center site will

         20  fill an unrealized need within the New York City

         21  cultural community and to have a dramatic impact on

         22  the redevelopment in Lower Manhattan.

         23                 The Joyce appreciates the open and

         24  honest dialogue introduced by the City and embraced

         25  by the Port Authority, the Governor and LMDC and
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          2  looks forward to working with these parties to see

          3  the plans for this historic venue continue to

          4  develop and move forward.  Thank you, and thank you

          5  for convening this hearing today.

          6                 MR. HOUGHTON: Thank you, Chairman.

          7  It's a privilege to have the opportunity to address

          8  you today.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I just ask you to

         10  state your name and title for the transcript.

         11                 MR. HOUGHTON: My name is Jim

         12  Houghton.  I'm the founder and Artistic Director of

         13  the Signature Theatre Company. We're privileged to

         14  offer you testimony today regarding the development

         15  of the Performing Arts Center.

         16                 On June 10th, 2004, after an

         17  exhaustive worldwide search, Signature Theatre

         18  Company, along with the Joyce Theater, was

         19  designated as the only theater company to develop,

         20  design and occupy the Performing Arts Center at the

         21  World Trade Center site. On that day, we stood with

         22  tremendous pride alongside the Governor and Mayor of

         23  New York unified with one purpose, to take a step

         24  toward healing and renewal through the development

         25  of a world- class Performing Arts Center on the
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          2  World Trade Center site, and by doing so, establish

          3  a cultural campus Downtown that would celebrate the

          4  potential of the human condition through the

          5  universal reach of the arts.

          6                 Immediately following the

          7  designation, Signature Theatre Company and the Joyce

          8  Theater by the Governor and the Mayor and at the

          9  request of the Lower Manhattan Development

         10  Corporation, we began a process of writing an RFP

         11  for the design of the Performing Arts Center.

         12  Within several weeks, the RFP was placed and

         13  submissions began to come in from architects all

         14  over the world.  After approval from the Board and

         15  President of the LMDC, Signature Theatre Company and

         16  the Joyce Theater unanimously awarded Frank Gehry

         17  Partners the design for the Performing Arts Center

         18  at the World Trade Center site.

         19                 Immediately following the selection

         20  of Gehry Partners, and at the request of the LMDC, a

         21  design process began with an ambitious goal set by

         22  the LMDC to reach a 50 percent schematic design by

         23  February of 2005.  Signature Theatre Company and the

         24  Joyce, along with Gehry Partners, pulled together

         25  extraordinary teams of specialists and experts to
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          2  fulfill this obligation.  We went to work throughout

          3  the fall and winter of 2004/05 and met the goal set

          4  by the LMDC.

          5                 As the process continued, questions

          6  regarding costs started to surface internally just

          7  as various stakeholders began to publicly question

          8  Daniel Libeskind's vision and master plan calling

          9  for two cultural buildings on this site.

         10  Specifically, the International Freedom Center and

         11  the Drawing Center were drawn into a public debate

         12  and ultimately were moved from the site.

         13                 Meanwhile, the Performing Arts Center

         14  process continued as iteration of the architectural

         15  program was massaged in order to reduce overall

         16  projected costs.  During this process, the business

         17  plans for both the Signature Theatre and the Joyce

         18  Theater were vetted by professionals from across the

         19  country and around the world.  Throughout the

         20  process, and throughout the past two years, both

         21  companies worked diligently to address the overall

         22  concerns of budget while working to maintain the

         23  integrity of artistic programming as set forth in

         24  our initial proposals.

         25                 In tandem with our designation in
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          2  June of 2004, Signature Theatre Company developed

          3  and implemented an aggressive transition plan that

          4  addressed the internal and external needs for

          5  transition into a world- class facility with

          6  multiple stages and far- reaching programming.

          7  Signature immediately began to raise funds to

          8  support this transition and the development

          9  connected to the Performing Arts Center.

         10                 Over the past three years, we have

         11  broadened our artistic programming, increased our

         12  staff by 45 percent, marketing efforts by 22

         13  percent, fundraising by 81 percent, contributed

         14  income by 92 percent, expanded our offices,

         15  participated each summer in the River to River

         16  Festival, and developed the ground breaking

         17  Signature Ticket Initiative making world- class

         18  theater accessible and affordable to all New Yorkers

         19  with every seat underwritten 70 percent, bringing

         20  the cost of a theater ticket down to the cost of a

         21  theater ticket down to the cost of a movie and soda.

         22                 During this time, Signature Theatre

         23  Company has been acknowledged with every possible

         24  award for its groundbreaking programming and

         25  initiative and played to 105 percent capacity.  In
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          2  addition, audiences surveyed reveal that audiences

          3  of color of have risen to 33 percent, audiences

          4  under age 35 have risen to 34 percent, audiences

          5  earning less than $50,000 a year risen 25 percent,

          6  38 percent of the company's patrons were new ticket

          7  buyers, and 99 percent reported that they would

          8  return to see another production at Signature

          9  Theatre.

         10                 Recently, Signature was approached by

         11  the City with an exciting proposal that would at

         12  once solve ongoing challenges of costs and

         13  architectural program issues at the Performing Arts

         14  Center site at the World Trade Center and maintain

         15  our shared goal of creating a vital cultural campus

         16  that would invigorate and encourage further

         17  development of Lower Manhattan.  The City proposed

         18  that Signature Theatre Company and the City

         19  University of New York partner to find a site that

         20  would embrace the spirit of renewal and remembrance

         21  specifically at the World Trade Center site and

         22  beyond for Lower Manhattan.  Because of its location

         23  and proximity to both the Joyce Theater and the

         24  Calatrava transportation hub, we believe that

         25  without question the Fiterman site, while
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          2  challenging, has the greatest potential to meet our

          3  shared objectives.  We remain enthusiastic and

          4  encouraged by our ongoing meetings with CUNY and

          5  City officials, and believe that we have opportunity

          6  to create a center that contributes to the ongoing

          7  reinvention of Lower Manhattan.

          8                 For the last three years, Signature

          9  Theatre Company's commitment to Lower Manhattan and

         10  the citizens of New York has been unwavering.  In

         11  addition to the core mission to celebrate and honor

         12  individual playwrights each year with an exploration

         13  of their bodies of work, Signature Theatre Company

         14  will expand its programming to include writers of

         15  all ages in a theater center that will house three

         16  stages, multiple rehearsal studios, special event

         17  spaces, classrooms, a cafe and bookstore, and

         18  programs for all members of the community.

         19                 Regardless of the intense challenges

         20  of this process and the myriad of complications, we

         21  have stood firm in the belief that the arts can be

         22  and should be part of the revitalization of Lower

         23  Manhattan.  We believe that the arts can be both an

         24  instrument of remembrance and celebration.  Our

         25  mission is to celebrate a single artist every year,
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          2  but when distilled down to its essence, it is

          3  ultimately about honoring and celebrating the power

          4  and potential that each individual has to offer the

          5  community at large.  With that in mind, I can think

          6  of nothing more appropriate to reflect both the

          7  insurmountable loss as a result of September 11th,

          8  2001 and the value and remarkable impact of each and

          9  every life that we celebrate.

         10                 We are committed and we are proud to

         11  be part of the great City and this shared ambition

         12  to make a difference, and we're going to need your

         13  help every step of the way.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well I can assure

         15  you you will continue to enjoy the support and

         16  whatever help we from the Council can provide this

         17  important endeavor of giving you the world- class

         18  home for your world- class companies respectively.

         19                 So let me ask you, this proposal to

         20  move from the two of you sharing one structure to

         21  two structures in rough proximity, is that a divorce

         22  or is that a kind of a reconfiguration?  Is it a

         23  physical tearing asunder putting it another way, or

         24  a physical expansion?  I guess what I'm asking you

         25  all flourishes aside is would the proposal will we
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          2  still be able to enjoy the synergies we anticipated

          3  as part of the initial proposal of having your two

          4  great companies in one edifice?

          5                 MS. SHELTON: Well I wouldn't

          6  characterize it as a divorce.  I think when we were

          7  paired together in the first place, we did come

          8  together and realize there were some wonderful

          9  things that the two companies could provide in this

         10  building, and we haven't walked away from that

         11  completely.  We will be in two separate buildings,

         12  but I think if it works out for both of us, we'll be

         13  close enough together that we can still try to

         14  figure out how we'll work together.  I think we

         15  really need a critical mass of arts organizations in

         16  Lower Manhattan or it won't work for any of us.

         17                 MR. HOUGHTON: We were very excited by

         18  the collaboration that happened upon us through this

         19  process at the LMDC.  We had both submitted

         20  proposals separately and were put together, and I

         21  think initially we were both apprehensive about it,

         22  just sort of a shotgun marriage if you want to

         23  continue the analogy, but we quickly realized the

         24  tremendous strengths that each offered the other

         25  organization.  I think, as Linda just said, moving
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          2  literally yards away I think we're still able to

          3  maintain a lot of the pure essence of the benefits

          4  of that collaboration together.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Can you elaborate

          6  a little bit about those synergies, how do you feel

          7  the two companies can be able to continue or still

          8  be able to interact even though you're in these

          9  separate places?  How can you kind of reinforce each

         10  other as well as reinforcing the cultural milieu of

         11  our community and City?

         12                 MR. HOUGHTON: Well I think Linda

         13  eluded to a key component which is critical mass.

         14  You know I think we're both after the same thing,

         15  which is to create a cultural campus of sorts, a

         16  destination point where people will go regardless of

         17  the art, but go because there are exciting places to

         18  go where people co- mingle, and I think we have

         19  multiple opportunities to co- mingle our audiences.

         20  Literally, what would be separating us at this point

         21  is a small green park, and I think we have the

         22  potential to find ways to merge our audiences and

         23  our artists as a matter of fact, and we'll both have

         24  rehearsal studios.  You know artists tend to find

         25  one another and I think our audiences will as well.
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          2  Linda, do you have anything to add?

          3                 MS. SHELTON: In fairness to the

          4  process, Jim and I haven't sat down to see how this

          5  would really work in two separate buildings.  We've

          6  been focused on trying to develop, well for the

          7  Joyce, what would now happen in the PAC, and once we

          8  get a little further on that, you heard about the

          9  demands on us from the Port, and we're trying to

         10  keep up with those demands.  Once we know a little

         11  more, I plan to sit down with Jim and discover that.

         12                 MR. HOUGHTON: Same here.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Has there been

         14  any talk thus far of any kind of physical enclosed

         15  connection, any kind of an underground passageway

         16  between the two?  Does that make any sense to even

         17  think about or does that not matter at all given

         18  that, as you said, you're just a few yards away?

         19                 MS. SHELTON: I think it would be

         20  great to have that kind of connection.  At the

         21  moment, I think there is a little too much going on

         22  underground.  So maybe it could be something above

         23  ground.  We're not there yet either.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: A bridge rather

         25  than a tunnel.

                                                            90

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT

          2                 MS. SHELTON: Yes.  I was going to say

          3  we haven't crossed that bridge yet.

          4                 MR. HOUGHTON: I think we're both open

          5  to take full advantage of these two companies coming

          6  together.  That was the process we went through for

          7  the past three years, and I don't think either one

          8  of us wants to let go of the potential benefits of

          9  the sum being greater than the parts.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So you heard in

         11  earlier testimony  --  I believe you were present --

         12    talk about this ensuing eight- week period, and

         13  that at the end of the eight weeks, we're going to

         14  arrive at the final concept, the plan, and then move

         15  from concept development to concept implementation.

         16  So in order for that to happen from your

         17  perspective, what needs to transpire over these next

         18  eight weeks?  What information do your companies

         19  need in order to register your input?  In order to

         20  make your decisions, what should the other players

         21  involved be doing in order to reach this point where

         22  we have settled on the true concept that's going to

         23  be brought into existence?  What would you like to

         24  see happen over the next eight weeks in other words?

         25                 MS. SHELTON: Well I think it's
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          2  already happening. There are meetings that the Joyce

          3  and representatives have been invited to at the Port

          4  Authority and the City that we were never invited to

          5  before.  They are actively looking for our

          6  participation.  You heard how complicated all this

          7  is with the loads and when the super columns can be

          8  built.  So it feels to me like it's a very open

          9  dialogue, and we've been able to re- engage our

         10  theater consultant and our theater consulting team.

         11  That's what we needed to do sit at the table in this

         12  sense, and I think at the moment we have what we

         13  need, but I'll let you know if that changes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: By all means.

         15                 MR. HOUGHTON: To be clear, we never

         16  cut off the process at the Performing Arts Center.

         17  So we were fully engaged with our various

         18  consultants.  We have re- assembled the team and

         19  gone into a much more intensive mode.  We have

         20  approximately two months to develop in essence not a

         21  new program, but an adapted program and to do that

         22  in a new partnership with CUNY.  So we've had

         23  several meetings with CUNY, and we have many

         24  scheduled between now and the next eight weeks, and

         25  we're pulling together a very intensive design
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          2  process to see how we can fit in what was already an

          3  existing designed building, Fiterman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Do each of you

          5  have the financing or the funds necessary to do your

          6  part, to undertake your part of this eight- week

          7  planning process to pull together your respective

          8  teams, to have them do the work that needs to be

          9  done in order to provide the input we need from you?

         10    Is there a need to provide you with additional

         11  funding to do that or is that all in place?

         12                 MS. SHELTON: For the Joyce, Andrew

         13  Winters' office has asked us for a proposal which we

         14  are currently in the process of submitting.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: That's a proposal

         16  for?

         17                 MS. SHELTON: The planning over the

         18  next eight weeks and even beyond that.  They'd like

         19  to know what consultants we need on hand, and we are

         20  submitting that.  I guess in this interim period our

         21  consultants are doing a little bit of volunteer

         22  work.

         23                 MR. HOUGHTON: We are in the same

         24  process.  We've already submitted a budget.  It

         25  should be noted that when we went into this site and
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          2  into this process, both companies I think were able

          3  to initially raise certain transition funding

          4  because there was tremendous faith in the project

          5  and good will.  Shortly after that, there was a

          6  little less so, and so we were unable to continue

          7  fundraising because simply put, faith had been lost

          8  that this project was going to continue.  That faith

          9  is slowly and surely being re- configured and re-

         10  established.  So we have put in a request to Andrew

         11  and to Kate for funds to cover these next eight

         12  weeks, which is significant.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So is it fair to

         14  say that you each will require a degree of public

         15  support for the planning process in order to fulfill

         16  your expectations and that you anticipate receiving

         17  the support you need?

         18                 MS. SHELTON: Yes.

         19                 MR. HOUGHTON: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I don't want to

         21  ask you to state publicly any information that would

         22  in any way undercut.  So the process of you feel

         23  that you would rather not answer at this point,

         24  that's fine, but otherwise, could you give us a

         25  sense of the degree of funding that you require for
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          2  this planning purpose?  I mean even are we talking

          3  about in the tens of thousands, hundreds of

          4  thousands of dollars, the millions of dollars, tens

          5  of millions? I mean what are we talking about in

          6  terms of making sure that you have enough to

          7  successfully complete the planning process within

          8  the time period discussed?

          9                 MS. SHELTON: I don't think it will be

         10  millions of dollars, but we have just been learning

         11  over the past couple of weeks about the rigor of the

         12  Port Authority deadlines, and my consultants have

         13  asked, now that they know more, to revise what they

         14  will need to keep this process going.  So I can't

         15  really give you a number today.

         16                 MR. HOUGHTON: We're  --  Excuse me.

         17  Go ahead.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: It sounds like

         19  from your end we're talking about six figures in

         20  some range.

         21                 MS. SHELTON: Yes.

         22                 MR. HOUGHTON: It's definitely in the

         23  six figure world.  It's a very intensive re- design

         24  process.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I would expect
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          2  so.  That doesn't surprise me.

          3                 Now you also have other transitional

          4  costs incurred indirectly beyond what actually has

          5  to be expended on the planning process.  I know the

          6  Signature Theatre has an issue with a lease

          7  elsewhere that I believe has an upcoming expiration

          8  date, and you need to plan for a transition period

          9  to accommodate the new scheduled proposed.  Are you

         10  comfortable that you will be able to meet or to do

         11  the fundraising necessary to meet those obligations?

         12  Do you have an expectation of a degree of public

         13  support for the extended transitional period between

         14  now and when you each will be able to move into your

         15  new locations here in Lower Manhattan?  Have you had

         16  any commitment from the City or LMDC for that?  Is

         17  this something which we should be looking?  It

         18  certainly does us no good if between now and when

         19  there's the grand opening, your companies --  and I

         20  don't anticipate this, but we need to make sure  --

         21  your companies cease to exist.  Do we in the public

         22  need to do anything to help you sustain yourselves

         23  until we reach that point given the fact that you

         24  were initially given a much different time table

         25  than we now face and planned accordingly?
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          2                 MR. HOUGHTON: Well I think a couple

          3  of things. First, I eluded earlier to when we

          4  initially stepped into this process in 2004, we

          5  raised money immediately because of the good will of

          6  the general public and the City and State and

          7  several private foundations.  We were able to put

          8  into place an immediate transition plan.  To be

          9  honest, the transition started on June 10th, 2004.

         10  This is an ambitious project, for both of us I

         11  think, in terms of moving down here and trying to

         12  really in essence create this cultural destination

         13  together.  Without question, we're going to need

         14  support.  That effort to raise was absolutely

         15  stalled when faith was lost.

         16                 As Commissioner Kate Levin said

         17  earlier, we need to have physical plans in place.

         18  We need a full commitment and substantial commitment

         19  from all the agencies involved with making this sort

         20  of major civic initiative happen.  Once that is

         21  established and we have that in place, and a vision

         22  is clear, and an architectural plan is clear, we

         23  will be in a position to go steadily into a capital

         24  campaign.

         25                 MS. SHELTON: I think our horizon

                                                            97

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT

          2  could be a little longer than Signature Theatre in

          3  this case, but it sounds like today maybe it

          4  shortened up a bit.  We are  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: That's what we're

          6  hoping to do today so.

          7                 MS. SHELTON: We're starting to revise

          8  our business plan so we'll know what this will mean

          9  for us after this eight- week period and over the

         10  next several years.  I can't give you an answer on

         11  that right now.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I'm sure you

         13  heard the testimony earlier by the Commissioner and

         14  Mr. Winters that as part of the overall fundraising

         15  effort the two companies were going to be expected

         16  to raise additional money.  They didn't say how

         17  much, and they opined that once the physical

         18  structure plans were set, and the site locations

         19  finalized that the fundraising effort would be able

         20  to begin in earnest.  Do you agree with that?  Would

         21  you be prepared to go forward with the fundraising

         22  at those points or is there anything else that you

         23  feel we in the public sector need to do in order to

         24  enable you to mount a reasonable share of the

         25  overall fundraising effort?
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          2                 By the way, do you have any

          3  disagreement with the sense that you would be

          4  expected to do a share of the overall fundraising

          5  effort?

          6                 By the way, I'll get all these.  I'll

          7  intermix all together so.  Do you anticipate

          8  separate or combined efforts among your two

          9  companies?

         10                 MS. SHELTON: You know we haven't

         11  discussed whether it would be separate or together,

         12  but I think because we now have different governance

         13  or different governance working itself out, they

         14  will probably be somewhat together, but then apart

         15  when they're raising money for the Memorial, or in

         16  Jim's case, it would be through CUNY.  So I imagine

         17  it will be done both ways, and the Joyce fully

         18  expected to part of the fundraising initiative.  We

         19  don't expect the Foundation to raise the money on

         20  its own, but that said, we're both small

         21  organizations about to take on a very large project.

         22                 MR. HOUGHTON: I agree with everything

         23  Linda said. In some ways, it's too early to tell

         24  what the roadmap will me to accomplish the goals

         25  that we've set.  I know that we're both prepared to
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          2  commit all our resources, our energies, our boards

          3  have supported this, our artists have supported

          4  this, and I have to say the community- at- large has

          5  supported it.  I will say that Andrew Winters and

          6  Kate Levin and CUNY have been incredibly encouraging

          7  and I think stalwart in their determination to get

          8  this done.  I think it's a new day.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So with that you

         10  all have testified very clearly as to the need to

         11  recreate the general public confidence and certainly

         12  the confidence of the philanthropic and cultural

         13  communities that this project is going to happen.

         14  Is there anything more you would like to tell us

         15  that we, we the public sector mostly broadly, in any

         16  level of government, need to do over the next few

         17  weeks in order to regenerate that confidence so you

         18  can do the share of the work that we're asking you

         19  to do? What do we need, in other words, to support

         20  your projects?

         21                 MS. SHELTON: I would say to continue

         22  to advocate on behalf of the Performing Arts Center.

         23    As you heard today, we're pretty much the last

         24  ones to come to the table at the site, and I think

         25  that has left with some conflicts of actually
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          2  getting this building built.  So anytime that we can

          3  have a public hearing like this is great to get it

          4  in the press and to call attention to it and to show

          5  that it is moving forward.

          6                 MR. HOUGHTON: I think the efforts

          7  you've made today have helped us tremendously, and

          8  have brought all of the players together in one room

          9  to really discuss the issues at hand and will be

         10  reported on and will hopefully begin to gather

         11  momentum again. Without that momentum, nothing

         12  happens.  Like anything in the public sector, it has

         13  to have the support of the people and those who the

         14  people elect to make anything happen, and these are

         15  both significant cultural initiatives that require

         16  the support of absolutely everyone.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well I can say

         18  with full confidence that your future Lower

         19  Manhattan community, without question, remains eager

         20  and enthusiastic to this happen, and you will hear

         21  Community Board representatives testify shortly in

         22  this hearing.  I can assure you that this Committee

         23  and this City Council will continue to stay on top

         24  of the issue and to make sure that progress is

         25  achieved as absolutely expeditiously as possible. I

                                                            101

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT

          2  was not joking when I suggested the next hearing in

          3  eight weeks after learning of that time table to

          4  hold everyone's feet to the fire, but I hope and

          5  trust that in fact, we will proceed collaboratively

          6  with the State, with the City and with the Port

          7  Authority.  I believe you have an very enthusiastic

          8  future immediate neighbor, but at this point, I'll

          9  let him speak for himself.  I know better than to do

         10  otherwise.  So I thank you very much for your time.

         11  We look forward to continuing to work together, and

         12  at this point, I'll call Mr. Larry Silverstein to

         13  offer testimony.  Thank you very much.

         14                 MR. HOUGHTON: Thanks very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Following Mr.

         16  Silverstein, we'll hear from Catherine McVay Hughes

         17  of Community Board 1, Rick Bell of the American

         18  Institute of Architecture and Annie Kurtin of the

         19  New York New Visions, and then we will have our

         20  concluding panelists after that.  Mr. Silverstein,

         21  you're no stranger to the City Council, to City Hall

         22  and it's a pleasure to once again welcome you and be

         23  with you.  So tell us some good thoughts and some

         24  good news.

         25                 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Thank you very much.
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          2    Good afternoon ladies and gentlemen, and thank you

          3  Chairman Gerson and other distinguished members of

          4  the Lower Manhattan Redevelopment Committee for

          5  inviting me here today.  Thank you for this

          6  opportunity to reflect on the urgency of moving

          7  forward the development of a performing arts venue

          8  at the World Trade Center.

          9                 Before I express my thoughts on the

         10  matter that brings us here today, I'd like to share

         11  with you the role that the arts has had in my life.

         12                 Growing up in Bedford Stuyvesant, my

         13  house was always filled with music.  Prior to

         14  entering the real estate profession in the 1950's,

         15  my father was a classical pianist who earned a

         16  living teaching music.  I was fortunate enough to

         17  learn to play piano from a virtuoso.

         18                 My father instilled in me a deep

         19  passion for music that led me to enroll in the

         20  City's High School of Music and Art. I believe that

         21  the discipline and patience I developed from my

         22  musical training has led me to where I am today.

         23                 My appreciation for the arts endures

         24  to this day. Classical music is always playing in my

         25  home and in my car.  My wife, Klara and I are avid
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          2  concert and opera goers, art collectors, and

          3  supporters of the arts.  In my business, I

          4  continuously search for ways to incorporate and

          5  support the arts.

          6                 After 9/11, Silverstein Properties

          7  was honored to provide the displaced resident

          8  artists of the Lower Manhattan Cultural Council, who

          9  worked high up in the Twin Towers, with a new home

         10  in our building at 120 Broadway.  Since then, the

         11  program has flourished with studio space on the 8th

         12  Floor and performing art space on the ground floor.

         13                 Seven World Trade Center itself is

         14  unique in that several world- class artists actually

         15  participated in its design. Jamie Carpenter, who

         16  works out of a studio on Hudson Street, collaborated

         17  with David Childs on the building's glass curtain

         18  wall and its stainless steel facade.  The lobby

         19  features an art installation by Jenny Holzer, the

         20  park was designed by Tribeca's Ken Smith, and hosts

         21  a Jeff Koons sculpture known as Balloon Flower, Red.

         22                 There is a rich history of performing

         23  arts Downtown and particularly at the World Trade

         24  Center.  Many of us remember with fondness the

         25  lunchtime concerts that were held at the Austin J.
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          2  Tobin Plaza during the summer.

          3                 Many of you were there when we opened

          4  7 World Trade Center last year with a public concert

          5  featuring seven New York bands including Lou Reed

          6  and Suzanne Vega.  It was the first outdoor concert

          7  at the World Trade Center since August of 2001.

          8                 One needs to look no further than New

          9  York's own businesses to understand the importance

         10  of arts to the City.  New York's biggest arts

         11  patrons are its corporations who recognize that

         12  outstanding culture is a key to a thriving and

         13  creative international city.

         14                 One of the least talked about, but

         15  most exciting aspects of the World Trade Center

         16  Master Plan is the inclusion of exceptional

         17  performing arts space.  I believe this is critical

         18  to the success of this project and also to firmly

         19  establishing Lower Manhattan as a vibrant 24/7

         20  mixed- use community.

         21                 There is already a critical need for

         22  a performing arts venue that will attract residents,

         23  workers and visitors from throughout the region to

         24  Downtown at night and on weekends.  Over the past

         25  year, we have hosted dozens of events in the raw
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          2  space at 7 World Trade Center, from fashion shows to

          3  movie shoots, opera recitals to gala dinners, but

          4  our buildings will be fully leased soon.

          5                 I believe that Mayor Bloomberg and

          6  Deputy Mayor Doctoroff's plan for the World Trade

          7  Center's Performing Arts Center is the right one.

          8  Frank Gehry will produce yet another magnificent

          9  design that will be a destination in and of itself.

         10                 I also like the idea of an arts

         11  corridor between Fiterman Hall and the Performing

         12  Arts Center that includes the 7 World Trade Center

         13  park, which as we saw last May is a great place for

         14  outdoor performances.

         15                 There are obviously complex design

         16  and land use issues affecting Fiterman Hall and the

         17  Performing Arts Center, but I hope that whatever the

         18  ultimate configuration, the Joyce Theater and the

         19  Signature Space, and perhaps other companies, will

         20  find a permanent home here at the World Trade

         21  Center.

         22                 Finally, I am pleased to announce

         23  that as a first step towards reintroducing

         24  performing arts at the World Trade Center, we will

         25  be hosting a series of evening concerts this
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          2  September that will be produced by Michael Dorf in

          3  conjunction with Julie Menin, Wall Street Rising,

          4  the LMDC and Speaker Silver's office.  Thank you

          5  very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you very

          7  much for your enlightening and important testimony,

          8  and I should take the opportunity to also once again

          9  thank you very much for your leadership in assuring

         10  that progress has been made in this rebuilding

         11  effort.  If I'm understanding this correctly, I

         12  think we have an opportunity for the opening of

         13  performance of our rebuilt center to feature Larry

         14  Silverstein on the piano.

         15                 MR. SILVERSTEIN: That I'm not sure

         16  of.  It's been a long time.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Once a pianist,

         18  always one. Right though?

         19                 MR. SILVERSTEIN: It never goes out of

         20  your blood.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: There you go.

         22                 Let me just ask you just briefly,

         23  earlier we heard testimony that due to the technical

         24  aspects of the underground rebuilding, the temporary

         25  PATH station, construction on the above ground
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          2  Performing Arts Center on the Ground Zero site could

          3  probably not begin before 2011.  You, in addition to

          4  the cultural virtuoso, are certainly a master

          5  builder.  So let me ask you from your experience and

          6  your awareness of the complexity of this site, do

          7  you think we can do a little bit better if all due

          8  effort were made, or is 2011 really you know when we

          9  could expect it to begin? Could we move it up a year

         10  or two do you think?  Any sense?

         11                 MR. SILVERSTEIN: A year or two is

         12  probably unlikely. The Performing Arts Center

         13  location really adjacent to the Freedom Tower is

         14  where much of the staging is taking place for

         15  construction of the Freedom Tower.  That is a very

         16  large building.  As you know, it's 1,368 feet just

         17  to the wall.  It goes up to 1,776 feet to the tip of

         18  the tower.  That is a huge building, extremely

         19  complex. The massing and management of the resources

         20  needed for erection of that building are such that

         21  it requires a good deal of space immediately around

         22  it.  Therefore, the probabilities of being able to

         23  take possession a year or two earlier of the

         24  Performing Arts location I think is optimistic.

         25  Certainly it's to everyone's advantage to be able to
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          2  clear that space at the earliest possible time for

          3  purposes of erection of the Performing Arts Center

          4  because it would be wonderful to have that done

          5  simultaneously with the balance of the buildings at

          6  second.  That would be grand, and that's something

          7  we all ought to strive for, and if everyone is

          8  dedicated to moving the process forward as swiftly

          9  as possible, my sense is that it will happen.

         10  Whether it's a year or two before hand, I'm not

         11  quite sure, but certainly we should all strive to

         12  see if there is a possibility of accelerating the

         13  process because it's to everybody's advantage to do

         14  so.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Are you satisfied

         16  that at this point the collaboration and information

         17  sharing space among all the players and site

         18  occupants, which obviously includes your

         19  organization, is now in place so that we can move as

         20  expeditiously as possible, or are there any areas

         21  where we still have some kinks to work out that we

         22  should making sure happens in the next several weeks

         23  so we are able to do that?

         24                 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Well I'm fairly

         25  pleased to say that the various players with a stake
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          2  in this process, primarily Port Authority, the City,

          3  the State, LMDC, ourselves, the collaboration is

          4  very real and intense.  The design process goes

          5  forward on a daily basis.  There's constant

          6  interaction.  I think it's working well, and I am

          7  really pleased at the progress that's being made and

          8  have every reason to be optimistic that exactly what

          9  is happening today will continue, and efficiently

         10  so.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well that is good

         12  news indeed. So let me just ask you beyond the

         13  broader significance of culture and even the

         14  significance of the performing arts to the Downtown

         15  community, how important is this center to the

         16  projects you are directly undertaking and will be

         17  managing?  I mean will this enhance the commercial

         18  sector that your are directly leading? Could you

         19  elaborate on the synergies between culture and

         20  commerce on this site?

         21                 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Well it is clear

         22  that the best possible environment to create for the

         23  occupants of the 10 million square feet of space

         24  we're going to be rebuilding and replacing at the

         25  Trade Center  --  The best environment for them is
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          2  that which is the equivalent of a 24/7 community.

          3  So for example, when you have retail in the

          4  buildings, it provides a level of interest and

          5  excitement to those working upstairs.  It also

          6  provides excitement to those visiting the center.

          7  The Memorial and the center will all probability

          8  attract 10 million visitors a year.  Along with

          9  that, people want to enjoy the advantages of

         10  performing arts.  It's part of our culture.  It's

         11  part of our life, and to the extent that we can

         12  bring the performing arts back into Lower Manhattan

         13  community by implementing the Joyce, by implementing

         14  the Signature, I think these are enormously positive

         15  initiatives that will add enormous value to the

         16  circumstances in which people find themselves

         17  working, people find themselves visiting, people

         18  find themselves living, and people find themselves

         19  generally enjoying the quality of what's there.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: So this is

         21  something we should proceed with all due speed.

         22                 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Without a

         23  hesitation.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well I thank you

         25  very much, and I know your ongoing commitment and
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          2  leadership will be critical to the success of this.

          3  I'm not going to give up on the idea of a Larry

          4  Silverstein performance.

          5                 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Thank you very much.

          6    I appreciate it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you.  Great

          8  to see you.

          9                 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Pleasure.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: We're going to

         11  expand our next panel since I see we have four seats

         12  up there.  At any event, we will now hear from

         13  Catherine McVay Hughes, the Vice Chair of Community

         14  Board 1, Rick Bell, the Executive Director of the

         15  American Institute of Architecture, Annie Kurtin of

         16  New York New Visions and Robert Yesselman, the

         17  Director of Dance NY.  Following that we will

         18  proceed to our grand finale.

         19                 MS. MCVAY HUGHES: Can Michael

         20  Connelly come up too? He's Co- Chair of the World

         21  Trade Center Redevelopment Center.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Michael Connelly

         23  could always come up.  Oh there you are.  I didn't

         24   --  Come on up.  You could pull up an extra chair

         25  along the side of the table.  I tell you what.  Why
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          2  don't we even pull up  --  Why don't we make this

          3  one great, grand panel, and why don't we ask Eugeni

          4  Spektor of the Museum of Modern Art, if you're still

          5  here.  I saw you earlier. No.  Okay.  Well if she

          6  returns, we'll ask her to come up.  Ms. McVay

          7  Hughes, do you want to commence?

          8                 MS. MCVAY HUGHES: Great.  Good

          9  afternoon.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Good afternoon.

         11                 MS. MCVAY HUGHES: I am Catherine

         12  McVay Hughes, the Vice Chair of Community Board 1,

         13  and I appreciate the opportunity to testify today

         14  regarding the Performing Arts Center at the World

         15  Trade Center site.  As the Community Board

         16  representing Lower Manhattan, Community Board 1

         17  reiterates its support of the goal of redeveloping

         18  the World Trade Center site in a vibrant manner that

         19  is compatible with the development of a livable and

         20  dynamic mixed use community.  We are encouraged by

         21  what we heard today, and we're really grateful that

         22  you held this really, really important hearing.

         23                 The Master Plan established for the

         24  rebuilding of Lower Manhattan followed a lengthy

         25  public planning process which resulted in a clear
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          2  consensus that the development of significant and

          3  varied cultural facilities is essential to the

          4  successful revitalization of the World Trade Center

          5  site and Lower Manhattan. The Frank Gehry designed

          6  Performing Arts Center, as the principal and now

          7  only remaining cultural facility planned for the

          8  World Trade Center site, is a key element of the

          9  Master Plan and is essential to the revitalization

         10  of Lower Manhattan.

         11                 We are concerned that the Lower

         12  Manhattan Development Corporation, City of New York,

         13  the Port Authority of New York and New Jersey and

         14  all other public and private agencies involved in

         15  the reconstruction of the World Trade Center site

         16  respect the very strong desire of the community to

         17  see that the promised Performing Arts Center is

         18  built as it was intended and in a timely manner.

         19  Its completion is essential to the success of the

         20  Master Plan and is particularly important since

         21  earlier plans for a cultural center housing the

         22  Drawing Center and the Freedom Museum were

         23  eliminated from the World Trade Center site.

         24                 We have been concerned about the

         25  recent developments regarding the Performing Arts
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          2  Center.  It seems positive after what we heard

          3  today.  We were concerned that the Performing Arts

          4  Center would no longer serve as home for the

          5  Signature Theatre, which represents a significant

          6  reduction in the plans for the activity in this

          7  site.  We've also been concerned that the Performing

          8  Arts Center is going to be a staging ground for the

          9  construction of the Freedom Tower, temporary

         10  entrance and exit for the Calatrava designed PATH

         11  station to other uses unrelated to the Performing

         12  Arts Center.  Unforeseen delays in design and

         13  construction of the temporary PATH station could

         14  further delay realization of the Performing Arts

         15  Center.

         16                 In addition, the construction of the

         17  second exit/entrance for the World Trade Center

         18  parking garage could possibly delay the availability

         19  of the Performing Arts site.  Five years from now is

         20  the anticipated date to begin construction on the

         21  Performing Arts Center.  It'll probably take several

         22  years to build.  Therefore, it may not even operable

         23  until 2015.  We urgently request that all involved

         24  public and private agencies take all the possible

         25  steps to prevent the use of the site of the
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          2  Performing Arts Center for unrelated purposes and

          3  ensure that construction can commence as soon as

          4  possible.

          5                 The Performing Arts Center was

          6  conceived as a calming transition between the bustle

          7  of commerce and the reflection and remembrance that

          8  will be inspired by the memorial and as a focal

          9  point inspiring the resurgence of arts in Lower

         10  Manhattan.  This vital public mandate is essential

         11  to the revitalization of Lower Manhattan.

         12                 We have four key points that we want

         13  to leave you with.  First of all that the Performing

         14  Arts Center is completed as soon as possible and is

         15  made available for a public review.  We urge that

         16  the funding process for the Performing Arts Center

         17  commence immediately so that there will be practical

         18  assurance that the Performing Arts Center will

         19  actually be built and become that vital element of

         20  the Master Plan for the reconstruction of the World

         21  Trade Center site.

         22                 Two, the Community Board requests

         23  that a time table and a plan for the implementation

         24  for each of the remaining steps involved in the

         25  design and construction of the Performing Arts
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          2  Center together with specific information on funding

          3  the project be available as soon as possible.

          4                 Three, the Community Board requests

          5  that the process relating to the planning and

          6  development of the Performing Arts Center and other

          7  cultural enhancements for the World Trade Center

          8  site be an open and transparent process and

          9  recommends the immediate formation of an advisory

         10  panel including representatives of Community Board 1

         11  to advise issues relating to the Performing Arts

         12  Center and other cultural enhancements for the World

         13  Trade Center site.

         14                 Four, we also want to encourage that

         15  government agencies and private parties consider

         16  other possible cultural facilities and programming

         17  for the World Trade Center site.  For example, the

         18  development of an additional gallery of performance

         19  spaces in portions of the vast commercial

         20  developments already planned for the site along the

         21  model of the Jazz at Lincoln Center and the Time

         22  Warner Building.

         23                 We would like to thank you again,

         24  Honorable Gerson, for holding this very important

         25  hearing, and it seems to be very apropos considering
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          2  that in the next eight weeks the final concept will

          3  be developed.  After you get your hearing, we would

          4  like to get a hearing also, a presentation by the

          5  relevant parties before Community Board 1.  Thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Absolutely, and

          8  let me just before we proceed and then we'll return

          9  for questioning, but let me acknowledge the role of

         10  the Community Board, and your role in particular,

         11  Ms. McVay Hughes in formulating the EPA resolution

         12  which this Committee adopted earlier during this

         13  hearing.  We look forward to its adoption by the

         14  full City Council at our next City Council meeting

         15  and the record should acknowledge that your ongoing

         16  efforts in ensuring the safest possible clean up

         17  played a direct role in getting this resolution

         18  done.

         19                 MS. MCVAY HUGHES: Thank you also for

         20  everything you've done on that issue.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well thank you

         22  and we will return and whoever wishes to go next,

         23  please.  Someone's very eager here.  Go ahead.

         24                 MR. YESSELMAN: Yes, I'm afraid I have

         25  another commitment.  So I am very eager.  In all the

                                                            118

          1  LOWER MANHATTAN REDEVELOPMENT

          2  talk this afternoon -

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Just for the

          4  transcript, name, title  --

          5                 MR. YESSELMAN: Bob Yesselman,

          6  Director, Dance NYC. We are a branch office of Dance

          7  USA, which is the national professional organization

          8  for dance in the United States.  New York City,

          9  needless to say, has the largest dance population in

         10  the country.  We are about to release a census of

         11  dance in New York City, and what that census will

         12  show is well over a million people a year attend

         13  dance performances, and that dance as a factor of

         14  the New York City economy contributes a half billion

         15  dollars in economic impact.

         16                 All afternoon long, we've been

         17  talking about the Performing Arts Center.  I wanted

         18  to draw to your attention that what we are talking

         19  about is the Joyce International Dance Theater. Of

         20  all of the art forms in New York, and I was glad to

         21  hear you mention Jazz at Lincoln Center, dance is

         22  the only major art form that does not have its own

         23  edifice, that does not have its own center.  You

         24  have plenty of opera houses.  You have plenty of

         25  theaters on Broadway, off Broadway.  Dance itself
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          2  has no unifying center piece of real estate.  Hence

          3  the Joyce International Dance Theater is an

          4  extremely important element to the dance community

          5  itself.

          6                 We count in our census close to 1,400

          7  dance companies in New York City.  We count in our

          8  census over 7,000 active dancers in New York City,

          9  and this is a population that we have not much

         10  talked about this morning for obvious reason.

         11  Commissioner Levin spoke about New York as the

         12  cultural capital of the world, and dance, we are the

         13  dance capital of the nation.  Fortunately, we have

         14  tended to be marginalized and I see again in the

         15  rather torturous history that we've all been talking

         16  about this afternoon, dance has been marginalized

         17  again.

         18                 Why the PATH train exit needs to be

         19  on that site, I'm not an engineer, but I don't know.

         20    Why the site is to serve as a staging ground for

         21  the building of the Freedom Tower, I don't know, but

         22  what it says to me is that this seems to be the

         23  least important thing happening Downtown, and given

         24  New York City's cultural dominance, given dance's

         25  dominance in New York City  -- New York City is the
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          2  home of modern dance and ballet.  They both were

          3  invented here, or at least contemporary were.  The

          4  world looks to New York City, and yet when they come

          5  here, they see no dance theater.  As every civilized

          6  country in Europe and elsewhere have a dance

          7  theater, we don't.  So I can't stress enough how

          8  important this theater is to the dance community.  I

          9  can't stress enough how much I appreciate Chairman

         10  Gerson.  You're pushing all morning for dates and

         11  times and all of that, this is central to the growth

         12  and development of dance in New York City as well as

         13  the Downtown cultural scene.  It should be put on

         14  the front burner, not the back burner.  We should

         15  not be the fielding stage for the Freedom Center,

         16  nor a railroad exit, and anything that can be done

         17  to move this timeline up and to bring renewed

         18  importance to this project is absolutely essential.

         19                 When Linda Shelton spoke earlier, you

         20  asked her what could you do, and what could the

         21  Council do in order to move the process along, and

         22  as has been referred to several times, fundraising

         23  died as the dance theater and Signature theater got

         24  shuffled around in all of the shuffling around that

         25  has gone on since 2001.  What you can do more
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          2  strongly, this hearing is of course very helpful, is

          3  to get the Mayor, to get the Governor, to get

          4  Commissioner Levin to make an unqualified statement

          5  this is going to be built as publicly as can

          6  possibly be made because at the moment I must report

          7  to you a great many people in the cultural community

          8  wonder if this is ever going to be built, if it's

          9  ever going to happen.  So I think an overriding

         10  statement of competence from you and others is

         11  extremely important for fundraising to begin again,

         12  and for the artistic community in New York City to

         13  take heart that there really is going to be a dance

         14  center in the dance capital of the world.  Thank

         15  you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you very

         17  much.  Left to right, Mr. Connelly.  Me left.

         18                 Mr. Yesselman, we thank you for your

         19  time.  I gather --

         20                 MR. YESSELMAN: I'm sorry I have to

         21  run so badly.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: All right.  Well

         23  then let me just to get it clear on the record if

         24  the other witnesses will excuse me.  Just one brief

         25  follow- up.  Normally we wait until the end of the
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          2  panel, but since you have a time constraint.  From

          3  your testimony the creation of this dance center is

          4  important not only to the Joyce and the Lower

          5  Manhattan community, but to the City's status as a

          6  dance center.  Could you just talk into the

          7  microphone because we're creating a recording of

          8  this?

          9                 MR. YESSELMAN: It's important to the

         10  City both as dance capital of the nation and

         11  important to the City as cultural capital of the

         12  world.  As I mentioned, we are the only major

         13  cultural center without a dedicated dance theater.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay.  Well thank

         15  you very much. Sorry for the interruption, Mr.

         16  Connelly.  It's a pleasure to see you again.

         17                 MR. CONNELLY: Thank you very much.

         18  My name is Michael Connelly, and I'm the Co- Chair

         19  of the World Trade Center Redevelopment Committee of

         20  Community Board 1.  I'll keep my remarks brief, and

         21  with the permission of the Chair, submit written

         22  comments.

         23                 I agree with the remarks of my co-

         24  chair, Catherine McVay Hughes, and recommend your

         25  Committee to the many resolutions that our committee
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          2  has adopted over the course of the last five and a

          3  half years on the subject of the Performing Arts

          4  Center.  I also heartily endorse the comments of the

          5  speaker who immediately preceded me in supporting

          6  the creation of a dance center in Lower Manhattan,

          7  and in my belief that if Los Angeles can do it, if

          8  Minneapolis can do it, if Paris can do it, we can

          9  have a Performing Arts Center in Lower Manhattan and

         10  in New York.

         11                 It's an enormous personal

         12  disappointment to me and to everyone who lives and

         13  works in Lower Manhattan that we have seen no plans

         14  for the Performing Arts Center and seen no progress

         15  made to date.  The Performing Arts Center was a key

         16  element to the Master Plan for redevelopment of the

         17  World Trade Center site, and it appears to have been

         18  sidelined, if not all together forgotten.

         19                 The arts must be an integral part of

         20  the redevelopment of the World Trade Center site,

         21  and no other aspect of the redevelopment plan,

         22  including the Memorial, is anymore important to the

         23  revitalization of Lower Manhattan.

         24                 I personally regret the loss of the

         25  cultural center and the process by which it was
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          2  evicted from the site.  I am also extremely

          3  disappointed that the site for the Performing Arts

          4  Center appears to have been relegated to other uses

          5  so that it will not be available until at least

          6  2011.

          7                 Moreover, I'm very troubled that

          8  funding for the Performing Arts Center appears to

          9  have become the lowest priority for the

         10  redevelopment of the site, and that the World Trade

         11  Center Memorial Foundation, which at one time at

         12  least had responsibility for this matter, appears to

         13  have made the Performing Arts Center its lowest

         14  priority.

         15                 The failure of the City and State

         16  government and other agencies involved in the

         17  rebuilding process to pursue redevelopment of the

         18  Performing Arts Center with the same vigor that it

         19  has other aspects of the plan is much worse than a

         20  lost opportunity.  The Performing Arts Center is a

         21  key element for the redevelopment and the ultimate

         22  revitalization of Lower Manhattan. The failure to

         23  plan, develop and fund the facilities for the

         24  performing arts in Lower Manhattan would be a

         25  monumental failure of our collective vision for the
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          2  future.  We need more than office towers, we need

          3  more than retail development, we need more than a

          4  $500 million dollar memorial.  We should not have to

          5  wait to 2012 to begin building a key element of the

          6  Master Plan for the redevelopment of the World Trade

          7  Center site.  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you very

          9  much.  Ms. Kurtin.

         10                 MS. KURTIN: Hi.  Good afternoon,

         11  Chair Gerson, and thank you for this opportunity to

         12  testify.  My remarks will be brief.  My name is

         13  Annie Kurtin, and I am here on behalf of New York

         14  New Visions, the coalition for rebuilding Lower

         15  Manhattan representing 20 professional design and

         16  planning and engineering organizations in New York

         17  City.

         18                 In the February 2002 document titled

         19  Principles for the Rebuilding of Lower Manhattan,

         20  New York New Visions called for the inclusion of

         21  cultural facilities in the planning process.  We

         22  wrote at that time "historic and cultural

         23  institutions are an essential part of a thriving

         24  urban neighborhood and strong catalyst for

         25  development" adding that quote "nowhere is that more
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          2  true than in Lower Manhattan where history and

          3  culture have defined its character".

          4                 The LMDC, the Lower Manhattan

          5  Development Corporation, picked up on these

          6  suggestions issuing its preliminary urban design

          7  study early in 2002, which noted that "cultural

          8  amenities such as a museum of freedom and

          9  remembrance, a concert hall, opera house,

         10  educational facilities, library or community center

         11  have been proposed for the World Trade Center site

         12  to provide enriching experiences for New Yorkers and

         13  visitors alike and contribute to the 24- hour

         14  vitality of the area".

         15                 Downtown Now is the map prepared by

         16  the Culture Now team led by the American Institute

         17  of Architects New York Chapter Board Secretary,

         18  Abbey Suckle, FAIA.  It lists 164 historic

         19  buildings, 19 museums and 188 public art

         20  installations as well as 109 art galleries located

         21  in Lower Manhattan.  The arts bring life to the

         22  streets and sidewalks of New York.

         23                 As the design development of

         24  important World Trade Center site elements continues

         25  without adequate public review, we urge this
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          2  Committee to shed light on the relation of the

          3  Visitors Orientation and Education Center to the

          4  Memorial Museum and to help elucidate how skylights

          5  to the PATH terminal underground concourse relate to

          6  the public plaza located between the Visitors Center

          7  and the designated site of the Performing Arts

          8  Center.

          9                 We volunteer anew our assistance in

         10  these efforts. Thank you again.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you very

         12  much, and Mr. Bell, you have the final work and

         13  we're glad to have you as the grand finale.  Let me

         14  just take the opportunity to again congratulate you

         15  on your 150th  --  Not yours, but the birthday of

         16  the American Institute of Architecture, which we

         17  honored here at City Hall just a few days ago.  It's

         18  good to have you back.

         19                 MR. BELL: Thank you very much,

         20  Chairperson Gerson, and I appreciate the opportunity

         21  to testify here today on behalf of the American

         22  Institute of Architects New York Chapter and its

         23  4,200 members.

         24                 I'd, first of all, like to commend

         25  you and your colleagues on the Committee for the
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          2  consistent and concerted focus that you have brought

          3  to the discussion of the rebuilding of the World

          4  Trade Center site and the redevelopment of Lower

          5  Manhattan. Your early design workshops, which we

          6  helped a little bit with, bringing together family

          7  members of those who lost their lives at the World

          8  Trade Center site along with neighborhood residents

          9  address the importance of cultural facilities as a

         10  threshold or buffer zone between the memorial and

         11  the resurgent commercial activity that's expected

         12  and planned.

         13                 Looking through prior correspondence

         14  in preparing for this discussion today and also

         15  looking at some of our prior testimony on the

         16  subject of cultural facilities at the World Trade

         17  Center site, I note that we have repeatedly stressed

         18  the importance of bringing cultural facilities and

         19  their related activities to Ground Zero to create

         20  what has been called a living memorial to compliment

         21  the sacred ground of the Memorial site designed by

         22  Michael Arad.

         23                 A letter written two years ago to the

         24  Manhattan Development Corporation for example,

         25  reiterated our offer of pro bono assistance with the
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          2   "the Memorial and Cultural Facilities, the site

          3  design guidelines, and the integration of General

          4  Project Plan program elements into a cohesive whole

          5  able to stand the test of phasing, interim use and

          6  interagency discourse."  There were a lot of

          7  euphemisms in that quote.

          8                 At that time, we transmitted comments

          9  on the World Trade Center Memorial and Redevelopment

         10  Plan and its Environmental Assessment for the

         11  Proposed Refinements to the Approved Plan, and in

         12  those notes we suggested "that there be much more

         13  open discussion and professional review of the

         14  developing design of the International Freedom

         15  Center/Drawing Center cultural complex in relation

         16  to the access to the World Trade Center Memorial and

         17  the Memorial Center".  Through lack of informed

         18  discussion and lack of political leadership by a

         19  previous New York State Administration, we've come

         20  to this sorry site, and I reiterate what was said

         21  just a moment ago in losing the International

         22  Freedom Center and the Drawing Center.  Hence today,

         23  the discussion is ever more urgent and appreciated.

         24                 I'd like to sort of go off script.

         25  It's easy to read, but I think we've heard lots of
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          2  very, very important things today, and I'd be remiss

          3  if I didn't react to some of the big picture issues

          4  at least as I think that I personally and perhaps

          5  some of my members can address them.  It's the first

          6  time we saw some of the images that were projected

          7  here today, and I think that's pretty sad.  Whether

          8  the images are good, bad or indifferent, there has

          9  to be a much more open discussion of even concept

         10  plans with the Community Board, its committees, with

         11  professional societies that have been ready, willing

         12  and able and have helped on other issues all along.

         13                 I have to agree with what was just

         14  said that without open public discussion, it looks

         15  like the cultural facilities, in particular the

         16  Performing Arts Center, are being relegated to a

         17  very secondary or tertiary nature.

         18                 The big picture news it seems to me

         19  none the less if there's a positive lining is that

         20  it looks like both the Joyce and Signature will

         21  remain as focus of the cultural resurgence at or

         22  near the World Trade Center site.  If the Joyce is

         23  in fact fundable on the site, and the Signature at

         24  Fiterman, we think that these concept drawings about

         25  how that might come to pass should be released now
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          2  for informed public discussion and review.  For all

          3  the reasons that you, Chairperson Gerson, and

          4  Commission Levin stated, cultural facilities now

          5  must serve more than ever as a bridge between the

          6  Memorial and the revitalized commercial activity.

          7  The super column scheme that we saw here just a few

          8  moments ago, a few hours ago, makes the Joyce look

          9  ever more like that bridge.  There are metaphors of

         10  choreography and orchestration and staging that I

         11  might bring into this discussion at this moment, but

         12  it's getting late.

         13                 The critical mass of arts

         14  organizations in Lower Manhattan that Annie Kurtin

         15  just addressed, and I think many of those galleries

         16  are perhaps above Canal Street, although many of the

         17  museums are below, talks, as Linda Shelton did, to

         18  the need to see more.  It's not just for the

         19  Memorial that 10 million visitors, as Larry

         20  Silverstein suggested, will be coming to the World

         21  Trade Center site, and it's not just for new jobs in

         22  the office towers that Silverstein Properties and

         23  the Port Authority are building that people will be

         24  coming to the World Trade Center site.  The

         25  integration of a mixed- use 24/7, in this
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          2  neighborhood more like 25/8 neighborhood, is

          3  absolutely essential.

          4                 It's not so much a question of the

          5  divorce of one building type or another, or even of

          6  the Joyce and Signature Theatres.  You talked about

          7  the need for synergies.  We assumed that there had

          8  been a concerted reason for bringing both of these

          9  companies together, economies of scales, operations,

         10  mechanical systems.  Talking about keeping them

         11  separate may have proved in fact, although it's hard

         12  to say without more analysis, that the dis-

         13  economies outweighed the economies, and that if the

         14  structure was getting too complex, or too expensive,

         15  breaking them apart into two separate components

         16  might actually be better.  That remains to be

         17  demonstrated, but we'll go along with the Signature

         18  and the Joyce in saying that if the separation

         19  actually makes it possible for them both to be

         20  built, then all the better.

         21                 Again, it seems that all the better

         22  has to be demonstrated because the identification of

         23  cultural facilities as a threshold to the Memorial

         24  discussion, as Annie Kurtin started to do, about how

         25  the Performing Arts Center relates to the sort of
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          2  missing tooth of the cultural facilities that will

          3  not be built in the northeast corner of the

          4  southwest quadrant.  What the Visitors Orientation

          5  and Education Center becomes as a surrogate museum,

          6  if you will it'll become that we think in some

          7  manner over time. Certainly, it links to something

          8  that's called a museum, a Memorial Museum.  That has

          9  to be looked at much more holistically.

         10                 So to conclude, I would like to, and

         11  I'm glad I'm going last in this vein, to repeat or

         12  perhaps paraphrase the excellent concrete

         13  recommendations of Ms. McVay Hughes on behalf of the

         14  Community Board.  We couldn't have said it better.

         15  I'll say it again, and maybe just add a few more

         16  words for emphasis.

         17                 Number one, build cultural facilities

         18  now in real time.  Don't wait until another decade

         19  passes before we see the benefits that they bring to

         20  the site.

         21                 Number two, do a comprehensive plan

         22  that also serves the relationship of cultural

         23  facilities to streetscape and finally issue design

         24  guidelines.  I know I sound like, in this room, a

         25  broken record, but even if they're not everything
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          2  that they might have been when they were first

          3  drafted by Libeskind's office three years ago and

          4  released for comment by a very small group of who

          5  thought perhaps they weren't strong enough, even

          6  designs guidelines that address community needs,

          7  your constituent needs for streetscape improvements,

          8  for at least comprehensive approach to aspects of

          9  the site planning that we think are not funded.

         10  21st century street lighting design guidelines for

         11  the materials and sidewalks for plazas so that there

         12  isn't a hodge podge of separately developed un-

         13  phased site improvements that have no relation to

         14  each other or qualitatively to our budgetary

         15  decisions should be made now.

         16                 Third, the process has to be more

         17  open and transparent.  On these aspects, they

         18  probably couldn't be less.

         19                 Fourth and last, discuss other

         20  possible cultural facilities on on- site locations,

         21  including  --  And it was interesting to hear Larry

         22  Silverstein speak.  I appreciated his comments, and

         23  it's an honor to follow him, but it would be very

         24  interesting to talk about what the heck is going on

         25  on the west side of the bases of Towers 2, 3 and 4.
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          2  I know that there is a difficulty with commercial

          3  space facing Memorial.  The orientation of the

          4  commercial spaces in Towers 2, 3 and 4, in what

          5  we've seen in the presentations of those three

          6  towers, has been to Church Street and to the east.

          7  We know that there will be a lot of buses, and even

          8  going there now these days, the wall of buses is a

          9  significant factor in terms of the destruction of

         10  urban amenity for people who live and work in the

         11  neighborhood.  But cultural facilities, even at a

         12  small scale, as those Towers go up sooner, not to

         13  supplant, or replace, or in anyway diminish the

         14  fundraising capabilities of the Signature and Joyce,

         15  but to create a buffer zone, a threshold, an edge

         16  that defines Lower Manhattan as something that it

         17  has been, if not from the 1620's, shortly

         18  thereafter, which is a place where people go not

         19  just for entertainment, but to find a meaning to

         20  their lives and a meaning to being residents and

         21  visitors to Lower Manhattan.

         22                 Thank you very much for the chance to

         23  talk today.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you very

         25  much.  Mr. Bell, you and the AIA have been integral
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          2  partners to our community and to this Council as we

          3  proceeded.  So we thank you as we continue to count

          4  on you to provide your wisdom and expert insight.

          5                 Before I proceed with a few

          6  questions, let me just first take a moment to

          7  acknowledge and thank the outstanding public

          8  servants who have helped to organize this hearing.

          9  Seated to my left, our esteemed Counsel Arthur

         10  Schiff joined by the Deputy Chief of Staff from our

         11  Council District, District One, Sayar Lonial, joined

         12  by our Director of Cultural Policy from our District

         13  One Council Office, Paul Nagel, joined by our Policy

         14  Analyst, Mr. Patrick Mulgrav, and we are also joined

         15  at this hearing, from the Finance Division of the

         16  City Council, by Mr. Ralph Fernandez.  We also thank

         17  the Sergeant- at- Arms for your ongoing work in the

         18  conduct of the Council.

         19                 Let me just state that I will be

         20  asking Council, as part of the follow- up to this

         21  hearing, to prepare correspondence on which the

         22  Community Board will be copied, which will go out

         23  this week, the first part of this week, to the State

         24  and to the City highlighting points we expect, and

         25  indeed insist that they will follow- up on in the
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          2  ensuing eight- week process.  I think the first of

          3  those points needs to be an analysis and every

          4  effort to relocate construction staging, temporary

          5  train stations and any other activity that the

          6  relocation of which would allow for the expediting

          7  of the creation of the cultural center, and I can

          8  assure you that I and this Committee, before the

          9  next hearing on this topic, will avidly follow- up

         10  as we have done in the past, but I think now we're

         11  at a  --  As the testimony I think revealed, we are

         12  at a critical point in this.  So we're going to make

         13  sure that the moving up of the timetable to the

         14  extent technically possible is at the top of the

         15  list.

         16                 MS. MCVAY HUGHES: Can I just add one

         17  thing to your comment there because it is the

         18  staging ground for everything else? It's really as

         19  though the Performing Arts Center is being

         20  victimized.  Their price tag is escalating because

         21  they can't even begin for five years.  It's really

         22  they are paying.  Everybody else gets to use their

         23  spot for free, and their ultimate cost is way up

         24  because of that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Absolutely, and
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          2  that's a point which deserves reiteration and was

          3  acknowledged by the Administration in their

          4  testimony when they pointed out that construction

          5  costs continue to go only up and that's certainly

          6  not going, by any reasonable estimate, change

          7  between now and 2011. For all the reasons

          8  articulated, we're going to continue to press for

          9  that.

         10                 We are going to have a hearing of

         11  this Committee in the near future, and as you know,

         12  we're getting into City budget season.  So the

         13  hearing schedule is in the process of being put

         14  together, but we will be having a hearing on the

         15  status of the overall site design, including any

         16  changes that may have been made, or in the process

         17  of being made since previous hearings, and at long

         18  due to status of the site designs and getting them

         19  out to the public though I'm not going to wait for

         20  any hearing in order to follow- up on that with the

         21  new State Administration that is now in place.

         22                 Though not the topic for this

         23  hearing, several folks did bring up the issue of the

         24  Drawing Center, and we have every reason to believe

         25  that this project will go forward in the South
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          2  Street Seaport area, and we will continue to follow

          3   --  Within the Community Board 1 District I should

          4  add --  And that we will continue to follow- up to

          5  make sure that happens.  So a lot to do, but

          6  together we will do it all.

          7                 So let me ask, Rick, for you and

          8  anyone else, from your kind of technical vantage

          9  point, do you think in your knowledge of the site,

         10  should we be able to move the date forward from the

         11  technical engineering standpoint.  Can we have

         12  construction staging elsewhere?  Can we do something

         13  differently with the PATH so that we don't have to

         14  wait to 2011?

         15                 MR. BELL: The easy answer  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: That's an easy

         17  question.  Right?

         18                 MR. BELL: Yes, the easy answer

         19  expected and to be delivered is that I should hope

         20  so.  I think it's vital to do everything we can to

         21  bring the Performing Arts Center in early on. We had

         22  thought New York New Visions and the AIA, and other

         23  places, that the commercial facilities were going to

         24  take much, much longer to build out.  If you recall,

         25  part of the attraction of the Libeskind Site Plan
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          2  was the ability to do office buildings over time,

          3  which is to say Foster lost because it had to be

          4  done at once, and Libeskind won because it looked

          5  like the Towers could be built based on market

          6  demand over the next ten or twenty years. Who knew

          7  that the market demand on these sites was going to

          8  preclude, after 20 years of development in Battery

          9  Park City, and was going to fill out all of the

         10  sites that could have been used as staging areas, or

         11  other ways of accessing the PATH.

         12                 I think there is no easy answer

         13  absent a thorough review of drawings.  The only

         14  think I would add is it might be useful as you

         15  schedule additional hearings to focus not only on

         16  the site- wide implications of some of the things

         17  that were said here today, but also particularly

         18  with the obvious participation  -- It's nice to see

         19  them here  --  Port Authority of how the PATH is

         20  actually developing and at what cost and with what

         21  changes if any. There hasn't been a whole lot of

         22  public discussion even of how, now that construction

         23  has started, there might be other changes in the

         24  PATH station itself that might provide a clue to the

         25  question that you're asking here.  No one is saying
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          2  build on the, or use as a staging area, the Memorial

          3  site, or between the footprints, but there was one

          4  article by David Dunlop in the New York Times that

          5  talked about skylights on that site, and there has

          6  been no public discussion, maybe a little bit at the

          7  Community Board, about those skylights.  Annie

          8  Kurtin referred to that in her testimony.  There are

          9  lots of things that I think more sunshine and more

         10  open discussion could bring to bear and one of them

         11  is where staging areas could exist other than the

         12  Performing Arts Center complex.

         13                 MS. MCVAY HUGHES: I'm sure you

         14  already know, but the West Side Highway is missing

         15  two lanes right now.  One lane is used for the

         16  reconstruction already.  So by 2009, the Memorial

         17  will be completed.  So that whole lane can be used

         18  as a staging ground for the Freedom Tower and the

         19  appropriate equipment as well.  Now, the West Side

         20  Highway is also undergoing the human remains search,

         21  the very important search, and another lane is

         22  missing, but Downtown seems to be getting by.  So we

         23  already have lost a lane and it seems like that

         24  would be a natural thing to look at as well.

         25                 MR. BELL: May I add one more thing?
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          2  If you walk around other neighborhoods, Midtown

          3  Manhattan where office towers go up all the time.

          4  You look at the 1 Bryant Park site, the Bank of

          5  America site next to Bryant Park.  They're not using

          6  Bryant Park as a staging area for that very, very

          7  tall building, nor did the New York Times going up

          8  across the street from the Port Authority use the

          9  rooftop of the Port Authority Bus Terminal as the

         10  staging area.  There is a tradition in New York of

         11  dealing with the hand you got and using the land

         12  available to a particular development parcel for the

         13  staging of that development.  It doesn't make it

         14  easy, but I think the accident of looking at this as

         15  a co- joint campus has certainly put the Performing

         16  Arts Center at a disadvantage.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: As a what campus?

         18                 MR. BELL:   --  As a single campus

         19  where one part of the site can be used to help

         20  another part.  While I think that could be good if

         21  there was no money to build a particular parcel,

         22  whether it's commercial or otherwise.  A staging

         23  area for the Performing Arts Center on Tower 2, if

         24  that building wasn't to be built right away for

         25  economic reasons might not generate much complaint
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          2  in this room, but this a little bit different.

          3                 MS. MCVAY HUGHES: Yes.  So basically

          4  if they can't develop there for five years and you

          5  have the Port Authority using it for free and other

          6  organizations downtown using it, there's actually a

          7  price tag.  There's a price tag, a rent cost, or a

          8  lease fee.  So that money for using that space could

          9  be put in an account to actually help fund the

         10  Performing Arts Center.

         11                 Also one the questions I did not

         12  understand is the $55 million that LMDC gave to the

         13  Performing Arts Center is that even going to be

         14  enough to create the column support need at the

         15  underground infrastructure?  I didn't hear the

         16  answer to that earlier.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well

         18  unfortunately, Mr. Schick was unable to remain for

         19  the normal questioning, but we are going to follow-

         20  up.  I actually did have that discussion and I think

         21  they're in the process of formulating or fine-

         22  tuning their plans and proposal.  I think they

         23  recognize on an overall basis, and I don't want to

         24  speak for them by any means, but just to report

         25  previous conversations, that the $55 million while
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          2  certainly significant is nowhere near sufficient for

          3  what needs to be undertaken and how it relates in

          4  particular to the columns as well as to other

          5  aspects is something we're going to be pressing

          6  them. They made it clear that they would follow- up

          7  because he could not stay for questioning, that he

          8  would be available to provide follow up information

          9  and we will be pursuing that with him, and I know

         10  the Community Board will as well.

         11                 MS. MCVAY HUGHES: So if it's not

         12  going to be enough, and it seems like the Port

         13  Authority wants to be the managing agent for the

         14  underpinning of the Performing Arts Center, then

         15  maybe what the Port Authority could do is offer

         16  their service pro bono because they are using this

         17  space below the Performing Arts Center. Somehow work

         18  out a fee structure that way.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I can assure you

         20  they will certainly be in receipt of this suggestion

         21  and proposal.

         22                 MS. MCVAY HUGHES: Okay, and I have

         23  one other question.  If the Signature Theatre is

         24  going to be in Fiterman, is Fiterman, BMCC going to

         25  need a zoning or height change with that building
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          2  because you're going to have the theater in there?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Clearly, that's

          4  going to be one of the issues is going to be

          5  addressed.  Unlike the rest of the site, Fiterman

          6  under its current configuration should be subject to

          7  City zoning, and so I'm sure  --  I think you're

          8  raising the right question, and that it's certainly

          9  something the Community Board as well as our office

         10  and the Council will need to involve itself in.

         11                 MS. MCVAY HUGHES: Right because if

         12  it's a taller building then the park in front of 7

         13  World Trade, there's less sunlight there for the

         14  plants and the trees grow as well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: That's a very

         16  good point.  As you know, we're with you avid

         17  endorsers of sunlight in more ways than one, and we

         18  will follow- up as part of our follow- up to this

         19  hearing to City and State level with our demands, if

         20  you will, as to issues that they cover as part of

         21  the ensuing eight- weeks.

         22                 I didn't mean to interrupt. Mr.

         23  Connelly, did you signify that you wanted to add

         24  something.

         25                 MR. CONNELLY: I just wanted to say I
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          2  mean I think if something  has come out, and a lot

          3  of good things have come out of this hearing, I

          4  think the notion that there is no inherent right to

          5  use that portion of the site as a staging area for

          6  any other purpose.  It's designated as the

          7  Performing Arts Center and other things should not

          8  take precedence over that in developing the site. I

          9  also would urge you if there are follow- up meeting

         10  or other opportunities to include the Community

         11  Board and other representatives in that dialogue

         12  with the Empire State Development Corporation and

         13  Mr. Shick in making sure that we have an open and

         14  much more transparent planning process.  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: He has made that

         16  commitment, and we're going to be following up with

         17  him on that.  Let me just ask all of you though on

         18  this, if you will, proposal for the two locations

         19  for the Joyce and the Signature, putting aside the

         20  physical issues that are all important and we need

         21  to address about height and sunlight, but from the

         22  standpoint of a cultural campus if you will are you

         23  all comfortable with this proposal in contrast to

         24  the original proposal of the two in one building?

         25  Do you think this is a neutral change, one that
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          2  possibly gives us greater opportunities?  Is there

          3  anything we should look to make sure we do not lose

          4  that was part of the original plan if this proposal

          5  goes forward?  Any thoughts on that?

          6                 MR. CONNELLY: Let me start briefly,

          7  and then I'll excuse myself if I could.  I think we

          8  need to know more about it. I don't think we knew

          9  enough about the proposed merger or the design of

         10  the building as the potential economies of scale of

         11  having them both in one building.  It's sounds to

         12  me, and I think to many of the people that I've

         13  spoken to, like it could be quite feasible.  I think

         14  what's important to focus on though is that we need

         15  to be sure  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I'm sorry.  When

         17  you say they could be quite feasible  --

         18                 MR. CONNELLY:  --  To have two

         19  different locations, to have facilities that are

         20  interrelated that may interact in different ways

         21  even though they're physically separate.  I think

         22  what's important to focus though is the importance

         23  of major development, and one of the things that

         24  we've been concerned about at the Community Board

         25  level is suggestions for smaller, lower scale arts
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          2  development in Lower Manhattan, which needs to

          3  happen as well, but can't be a substitute for

          4  developing major performing arts center whether it's

          5  one or two, whether they're located there --  The

          6  Drawing Center is somewhere else in Lower Manhattan

          7   --  as facilities that will help rebuild and

          8  revitalize culture and life in Lower Manhattan.  So

          9  I personally would be less concerned about

         10  separating the two institutions, not having them in

         11  the same building, than losing the focus on having

         12  major facilities built in Lower Manhattan.  Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you.  Thank

         15  you very much, and thank you for all the great work

         16  you do.  Anyone else?

         17                 MR. BELL: On that question, not to

         18  take it too much further.  I think obviously you

         19  should be talking, as you did before to some degree,

         20  with the Joyce and Signature folks about what they

         21  think about, and they may not want to be on public

         22  record about it in terms of lost economies of scale,

         23  whether those are heating and cooling systems,

         24  mechanical systems, that might not be linked, or

         25  whether some of us could have imagined operating
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          2  costs issues of how tickets were sold, or things

          3  we're probably not expert and they are in the

          4  discussion as it relates to operating costs, not

          5  just initial capital costs.

          6                 But that said, when I saw the

          7  drawings on the wall, literally for the first time,

          8  of what the marriage of the two facilities was

          9  looking like and what was the number given $700

         10  million dollars, whether it's good or bad to say

         11  this.  I never thought that that structure would be

         12  by Frank Gehry.  I like Frank Gehry's work, some of

         13  it, and the Disney Hall in Los Angeles is a

         14  combination of rooms of different sizes in one shell

         15  with lots of economies of scale, security or

         16  operations.  The drawings we saw today that are now

         17  mute looked a lot like the think team's proposal for

         18  cultural facilities inserted into some sort of tall

         19  space frame grade.  Interesting concept.  It looked

         20  like the facilities that were inserted into this

         21  frame didn't have much relation to each other to

         22  start with.  So perhaps as a lay observer to this

         23  process, well an architect anyway, but still a

         24  recovering architect, let me say.  The separation

         25  into different distinct sites nearby and adjacent
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          2  might actually help with the identity, not just

          3  architecturally, but of the companies themselves to

          4  some greater advantage.  So I think we need to see

          5  more as was just said.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: And just let me

          7  ask you one question which I'll be following up also

          8  not only with the City and State Administrations,

          9  but also the theaters, but I want to get the

         10  community perspective and the cultural perspectives

         11  on this.  So Ms. McVay Hughes, Ms. Kurtin, part of

         12  the original concept was beyond the traditional

         13  theater that the centers be thriving, vibrant,

         14  living during the time periods when the main

         15  performances were not presented so that folks to the

         16  extent artistically feasible have an opportunity to

         17  see rehearsals, related classes, other activities

         18  going on so that we don't have the traditional down

         19  or dead time that we sometimes have at other

         20  cultural centers and theaters.  Is that, in your

         21  opinion, an important part of the concept which

         22  should be preserved, or not?

         23                 MS. MCVAY HUGHES: I'm not sure this

         24  exactly answers your questions, but with having the

         25  Signature Theatre at Fiterman, they'll get a lease,
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          2  maybe ten years, and what if it doesn't' work out in

          3  ten years?  Someone else may take the theater over,

          4  or it might go over to BMCC, and so by actually

          5  creating a large performing arts center, you'll

          6  always have the infrastructure Downtown.  Possibly

          7  another institution can come in there where, as

          8  Michael eloquently stated, these smaller locations

          9  they can come and go.

         10                 That was something actually I didn't

         11  say, but was also included in the testimony that the

         12  Performing Arts Center could also be enhanced by the

         13  inclusion of a smaller second stage that could be

         14  used for productions by other theaters in the

         15  Metropolitan area perhaps on a rotating basis.  Such

         16  a theater could give Downtown audiences a welcome

         17  opportunity to attend performances by prominent

         18  local theater companies such as the Manhattan

         19  Theater Club, Second Stage or the Roundabout

         20  Theater. Like the Roundabout Theater they have their

         21  shows at different theaters around Midtown.

         22  Wouldn't it be great if they could also come

         23  Downtown?  I mean just because we haven't identified

         24  a second cultural institution to go into the

         25  Performing Arts Center doesn't mean we have to
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          2  shrink the size of the Performing Arts Center

          3  either.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I did note that

          5  part of your written testimony.  So I agree that

          6  that's very important.  Anyone else?

          7                 MR. BELL: Well just like Jazz at

          8  Lincoln Center has a very distinct identity from the

          9  Time Warner Complex that surrounds it, that envelops

         10  it, I think it's vitally important that for reasons

         11  of its own recognizability that part of this

         12  truncated Performing Arts Center that will be housed

         13  in CUNY's Fiterman Hall, or whatever new name it

         14  takes on, has to have a clear and separate identity.

         15    There is a great auditorium, a performance space

         16  of sorts, at BMCC, and it's good of you to mention

         17  it.  I know we did a conference there called

         18  Learning from Lower Manhattan a couple of years ago

         19  because it had something over 600 seats.  Our space

         20  on LaGuardia Place only has 200 or so and it

         21  couldn't accommodate that number of people.  I think

         22  the idea of creating a Performing Arts Center as

         23  opposed to an academic lecture hall of that size is

         24  vitally important, and we shouldn't lose that, nor

         25  should we succumb to the notion well there's already
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          2  a 600- seat or so hall down the street.  We don't

          3  need to use Fiterman for this purpose.

          4                 I've designed, as a practicing

          5  architect in the past, an 800- seat hall for

          6  LaGuardia Community College in Long Island City.

          7  There are rooms between 250 and 2,000 around the

          8  City but they tend to be subsumed into other

          9  organizations where their validity as performance

         10  spaces doesn't quite jump off the page, although

         11  there are great cultural programs at LaGuardia

         12  Community College.  I think we are looking for the

         13  issue of identity that guarantees that whether it's

         14  the Joyce or Signature, or any other companies that

         15  might join them there over time, that they're

         16  perceived as not being subsumed only into the CUNY

         17  identity of the facility.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well I thank you

         19  all very much, and having no further witnesses at

         20  this hearing and with a lot more to do, but we will

         21  do it, this hearing is adjourned.  Thank you.

         22                 MS. MCVAY HUGHES: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 4:23 p.m.)
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